

# mRNA Degradation and Decay

Micheline Fromont-Racine, Cosmin Saveanu

# ▶ To cite this version:

Micheline Fromont-Racine, Cosmin Saveanu. mRNA Degradation and Decay. Fungal RNA biology, Springer, pp.159-193, 2014, 978-3-319-05686-9 (Print) 978-3-319-05687-6 (Online).  $10.1007/978-3-319-05687-6\_7$ . pasteur-01496708

# HAL Id: pasteur-01496708 https://pasteur.hal.science/pasteur-01496708

Submitted on 28 Mar 2017

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - ShareAlike 4.0 International License

# Chapter 7: mRNA degradation and decay

Micheline Fromont-Racine and Cosmin Saveanu

Génétique des Interactions Macromoléculaires, Institut PASTEUR (UMR3525-CNRS), 25 rue du Docteur ROUX, 75015 PARIS, tel. 0033/(0)1-40-61-33-31, fax. 0033/(0)1-40-61-34-56

mfromont@pasteur.fr, csaveanu@pasteur.fr

#### Abstract

Why is it important to understand mRNA degradation in a cell ? First, RNA degradation has a clearing function and removes RNAs arising from transcription, splicing, export or translation "accidents" to ensure robust gene expression (see Chapter 8). Second, while regulation of gene expression has a very important transcription component, mRNAs must be turned over rapidly for fast changes in transcriptome composition. Coordinated destabilization of an entire class of mRNAs can promote major physiological changes in a cell. Third, specific mechanisms of mRNA decay can serve to regulate gene expression through feed-back control. Research on these topics has been frequently done first with yeasts and led to a better understanding of gene expression in eukaryotes. We start with an overview of the methods for measuring mRNA decay on a large scale with an emphasis on how technical issues affect the current picture of global mRNA decay in yeast. Next, we describe the importance of nuclear degradation in shaping the stable transcriptome. Once in the cytoplasm, mRNAs are exposed to translation and we provide an overview of the complexes and individual enzymes that ensure progressive deadenylation, mRNA decapping and 5' to 3' or 3' to 5' exonucleolytic RNA degradation. Finally, how organelle transcripts are degraded in mitochondria is briefly exposed.

# **Table of Contents**

1 Introduction	2
2 Large scale methods for mRNA decay measurements	3
2.1 RNA labelling with modified nucleotides	3
2.2 General transcription inhibition for global mRNA decay tests	5
2.3 Linking mRNA degradation with global transcription changes	6
3 mRNA stability, associated proteins and the RNA operon concept	6
4 Nuclear degradation of nascent mRNA	8
4.1 mRNA capping and nuclear quality-control of the 5'-end	9
4.2 Nuclear retention and transcript degradation	10
4.3 Nuclear degradation from the 3' end: the exosome	10
4.3.1 Mpp6 and Rrp47	11
4.3.2 TRAMP complexes	12
4.3.3 The Nrd1/Nab3/Sen1 complex (NNS)	12
4.3.4 mRNA nuclear degradation and regulation	13
5 Cytoplasmic mRNA degradation	14
5.1 Cytoplasmic mRNA deadenylation	14
5.1.1 Poly(A) binding proteins Pab1 and Pub1	14
5.1.2 The Pan2/Pan3 deadenylase	15
5.1.3 The Ccr4/Not deadenylase	16
5.2 Cytoplasmic degradation from the 3' end: the exosome with Ski	16
5.3 Cytoplasmic degradation from the 5' end	18
5.3.1 The cytoplasmic decapping enzyme (Dcp1-Dcp2)	18
5.3.2 Activators of decapping: Edc1, Edc2, Edc3	18
5.3.3 The Lsm complex – RNA chaperone and decapping activator	19
5.3.4 Pat1, Dhh1 and Scd6 - linking translation and mRNA decay	20
5.3.5 Additional factors in mRNA decay: Pbp1, Pbp4 and Lsm12	21
5.4 The 5' to 3' degradation of unprotected RNA: Xrn1	21
5.5 Recycling of RNA degradation byproducts: Dcs1/Dcs2	22
5.6 P bodies are large aggregates of proteins involved in RNA decay	23
6 Mitochondrial mRNA degradation	24
7 Conclusion	25
8 Acknowledgments	25
9 References	30

# **1 Introduction**

As a preliminary to describing how RNA is degraded in yeasts, we will first define what messenger RNA (mRNA) is. Probably one of the simplest definition is based on the mRNA potential to code for a functional protein, unlike non-coding RNAs such as tRNA or rRNA that

are direct effectors in cellular machineries. To infer the protein coding potential and thus the inclusion of a transcript detected in a cell in the mRNA category, initial definition of open reading frames (ORFs) was done on the basis of length, starting at 100 codons. A powerful technique to go beyond such initial annotation is the comparison of genome sequence for many related species to identify conservation of predicted amino acid sequences (see, for example Dujon et al., 2004). The increase in the number of related genomic sequences leads to continuous improvements and reannotations of coding sequences in yeast (for an example of the evolution of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain genomic sequence annotations over time, see Engel and Cherry, 2013).

A pragmatic definition of an mRNA is based on its association with translating ribosomes. Such association can be tested by several methods, including measurement of where an RNA sediments in a sucrose gradient (Arava et al., 2003), the extent of association with affinity purified ribosomes (Halbeisen et al., 2009), and the identification of ribosome-protected fragments (Ingolia et al., 2009). The final proof of coding potential and actual translation of an RNA is detection of the newly translated protein by mass spectrometry analysis (see, for example Menschaert et al., 2013). This operational view of an mRNA also includes transcripts that do not produce functional polypeptides.

Studies of the factors affecting RNA decay and degradation allowed the discovery of novel concepts in transcription, nuclear export, and protein synthesis. Since the RNA degradation factors can have an action that is limited to one or another of the different cellular compartments, our description will follow the cellular organization of yeast cells. Nuclear, cytoplasmic and mitochondrial processes will be described in separate sections.

#### 2 Large scale methods for mRNA decay measurements

What is the average half-life of each mRNA species in a yeast cell ? In an era of deep RNA sequencing and refined methods for mRNA quantitation (see chapter 15), the answer to this question could look trivial, but it is not. We will thus first take a look at the results of several methods used for mRNA decay measurements genome-wide.

#### 2.1 RNA labelling with modified nucleotides

It would be highly convenient to be able to obtain statistics on the stability of individual RNA molecules in individual cells, and then calculate average values for an entire population of molecules and cells. Following the decay of single RNA molecules is possible but not yet at a

large scale (Trcek et al., 2011). A traditional way for looking at molecules and their synthesis and decay uses radioactive labeling of living cells. A pulse of radioactively labeled compound that is incorporated in RNA can be used to follow the synthesis and, during a "chase" period, the disappearance of molecules over time. Such an approach has been instrumental, for example, in describing rRNA biogenesis intermediates in early studies done in the 70s (Trapman et al., 1975; Udem et al., 1971).

To establish the kinetics of synthesis and degradation of individual mRNA molecules in an organism, several criteria need to be met. First, labelling should not influence the process that is under study. This condition is very demanding since cell walls need to be removed or made permeable if labeled NTPs are to be incorporated. Second, labeled molecules should be easy to quantify and distinguish one from the other. Third, when cells grow fast, as many yeasts do, the dilution of the labeled molecule will impact the ability of the method to estimate long half-life values. Dilution through active dividing cells during the assay needs to be taken into account (see Pelechano et al., 2010). Last, the localization of the degradation processes can affect the half-life estimations.

One of the first attempts to use a pulse labeling method to estimate indirectly mRNA half-life has been described as a genomic run-on strategy (García-Martínez et al., 2004). The method was based on previously described run-on experiments for transcription rate estimations (Hirayoshi and Lis, 1999). Pulse labeling of newly synthesized RNA in yeast was done through a five-minute incubation with <sup>33</sup>P-UTP. Cells had been depleted of nucleotides and rendered permeable to UTP by detergent treatment (García-Martínez et al., 2004). Incorporation of UTP in specific RNA molecules was estimated by the use of nylon membranes on which PCR products encompassing annotated ORFs had been deposited. By a comparison between pulse labeling of RNA molecules and known steady-state levels of the corresponding mRNAs, estimates of half-life for thousands of yeast transcripts could be obtained. Enhancements and further corrections of the original data have been published a few years later (Pelechano et al., 2010). Nuclear degradation of some transcripts could affect the amount of newly synthesized RNA that reaches the cytoplasm (Gudipati et al., 2012). Thus, the stability of mature mRNA is likely to be underestimated by genomic run-on experiments. If a fraction of newly synthesized transcripts is degraded in the nucleus and another fraction in the cytoplasm, the kinetics of degradation could appear bimodal. Thus, real half-life values for cytoplasmic mRNAs could be longer than predicted from observed synthesis and steady-state levels.

Non-radioactive labeling of RNAs is a clever alternative to <sup>33</sup>P-UTP labeling. The incorporation

of 4-thio-UTP in newly synthesized RNA (Fig. 7.1A and 7.1B) provides "hooks" that allow their isolation through biotinylation and affinity purification (Cleary et al., 2005; Dölken et al., 2008). The 4-thio-UTP precursor 4-thiouridine does not penetrate readily in yeast cells but its entry can be enhanced by the expression of the human nucleoside transporter hENT1 (Miller et al., 2011). Further analysis of the enriched RNA is performed by sequencing or DNA microarrays. 4-thiouridine based methods are not devoid of problems. Two studies performed in two different laboratories (Munchel et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2012) have shown no correlation between the half-life estimates of yeast transcripts. Among several explanations for this lack of correlation, it is possible that the levels of 4-thiouridine used for pulse labelling RNAs were high enough to induce a stress response similar to the one observed in mammalian cells (Burger et al., 2013). Once the right conditions are set up, it is likely that 4-thiouridine labelling will turn out to be currently the most flexible method available for large scale mRNA decay studies.

#### 2.2 General transcription inhibition for global mRNA decay tests

A straightforward and widely used method to assess mRNA stability is to follow what happens with an mRNA after transcription shut-down. Transcription inhibition is done either by using yeast strains with point mutations in an RNA polymerase II component (*rpb1-1*, Nonet et al., 1987) or by adding chemicals that are believed to specifically block RNA polymerase II, thiolutin (Jimenez et al., 1973) or ortho-phenantroline (Grigull et al., 2004) (Fig. 7.1C). An inherent problem of using a mutant strain defective for a major cellular pathway is that even at permissive temperature, transcription of the *rpb1-1* strain is reduced in comparison with a wild-type strain (Sun et al., 2012). It was even suggested that the measurements of half-life based on the study of such mutants are more likely to reflect changes in RNA stability due to heat shock. The very good correlation between the results of half-life estimates based on a temperature shift of an *rpb1-1* strain, or addition of thiolutin or phenantrolin (Grigull et al., 2004) indicate that these conditions affect transcripts stability by a common mechanism. Thiolutin treatment of the cells also inhibits mRNA degradation in a dose dependent manner (Pelechano and Pérez-Ortín, 2008), an effect that needs to be taken into account if estimates of half-life are done with this method.

For a more in-depth review on mRNA decay strategies, including a comparison with methods used for half-life estimations in other eukaryotes, see (Perez-Ortin et al., 2012). Half-life estimates of mRNA on a large scale need carefully crafted controls and independent methodological validation in different laboratories. Caution should be the rule when using any kind of half-life estimates for mRNA in yeast and probably in other species as well.

#### 2.3 Linking mRNA degradation with global transcription changes

What knowledge can be gained from the study of mRNA half-life estimates and their changes in different environmental conditions? It was this type of studies that pioneered the idea that mRNA steady-state levels are a poor reflection of the relative role played by RNA degradation factors in cellular metabolism (Dori-Bachash et al., 2012; Shalem et al., 2008; Sun et al., 2012, 2013). Deleting genes for factors involved in mRNA degradation was accompanied by global transcription inhibition, leading to constant relative levels of mRNA in mutant strains. Contrary to the expected result, even if some classes of mRNA were affected differentially, the steady state levels of mRNA were little affected by the absence of any given RNA degrading protein. A notable exception is the 5' to 3' exonuclease Xrn1, a major degradation factor in yeast cells (Sun et al., 2013). Why Xrn1 has an effect that is different from other degradation factors on the relationship between transcription inhibition and mRNA decay remains unknown.

An explanation for how RNA degradation and synthesis could be linked comes from the observation that mRNAs for transcription repressors, like Nrg1, increase in degradation deficient strains (Sun et al., 2013). As a consequence, the steady-state level of the protein is likely to rapidly increase, which leads to general repression of transcription. *NRG1* mRNA is known to be under tight degradation control since its levels increase in mutants depleted for the major deadenylase Ccr4 (Lo et al., 2012). *NRG1* transcript levels also increase upon translation inhibition with cycloheximide (Sun et al., 2012). *Thus*, deletion of genes for RNA degradation factors could mimic physiological situations that modulate translation. The tight coupling between translation, translation regulation and mRNA degradation of transcription factors could ensure robust responses of yeast cells to environmental changes and stress. Transcription rate of thousands of genes can be affected by changes in translation or degradation of a few key mRNAs. As a consequence of yet unknown secondary effects, steady-state levels of transcripts are a poor predictor of the direct effect of a degradation factor or complex perturbation on RNA. Tests of direct binding of degradation factors to RNA, as explained in the following section, are likely to be more effective in finding physiological roles for proteins involved in RNA stability.

## 3 mRNA stability, associated proteins and the RNA operon concept

The first experimental observations that identified a potential role of RNA binding proteins as global gene expression regulators were made in human cells (Tenenbaum et al., 2000). Based on these data and on previous knowledge on the properties of RNA binding proteins and especially their ability to change mRNA turnover, Keene and Tenenbaum proposed the RNA operon

concept (Keene and Tenenbaum, 2002; reviewed in Keene, 2007), which states that a given protein can be part of a large number of mRNPs and can play key roles in affecting the turnover of a large number of mRNAs that code for functionally related factors. While these ideas started from work done with mammalian cells, an experimental confirmation of this idea came later from yeast experiments performed in Brown's laboratory. The development of affinity based purification of RNAs in association with specific proteins coupled with microarrays allowed some of the first large scale estimations of the complex picture of the mRNP world in yeast (Gerber et al., 2004; Hogan et al., 2008).

The best known cases of RNA operons involve proteins of the Puf family. Described initially in *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caenorhabditis elegans*, there are six Puf proteins in *S. cerevisiae* (reviewed in Quenault et al., 2011; Wickens et al., 2002). The Puf proteins share eight repeats of the Puf motif that forms an arc like structure allowing interaction with both RNA and other protein cofactors. Subtle amino acid changes allow specific interaction with slightly different RNA motifs for each Puf protein (Qiu et al., 2012). While some Puf proteins overlap in their specificity of binding to 3' UTR regions of yeast transcripts (Puf1, Puf2 for membrane proteins mRNA), others are highly specific to particular mRNA classes (Gerber et al., 2004). Puf4 prefers mRNAs for ribosome biogenesis factors while Puf5 is mostly devoted to chromatin modification factors mRNAs.

Puf3 binds to many transcripts coding for proteins that are imported co-translationally into mitochondria. Their 5' regions of translated polypeptides contain a sequence of 60 amino acids coding for a mitochondrial targeting sequence, which contributes to mRNA targeting to mitochondria. The Puf3 protein is required for the specific intracellular localization of one of two classes of mitochondria targeted transcripts (Saint-Georges et al., 2008). While more than 200 transcripts are localized to mitochondria in a Puf3 dependent manner and contain consensus binding sequences for Puf3 in their 3' UTR region, other mRNAs that are translated in the vicinity of the mitochondria are not affected by Puf3. Puf3 binding to mitochondrial transcripts contributes not only to their localization but also stimulates deadenylation and modulates the stability of the bound mRNA (Foat et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2004; Olivas and Parker, 2000). An MFA2-COX17 chimeric transcript bearing the 3' UTR of COX17, coding for a mitochondrial protein, thus sees its half-life increased from 3 to 10 minutes in a *puf3* $\Delta$  strain. Whether Puf proteins directly activate deadenylation by interacting with Pop2 and recruiting the Pop2-Ccr4-Not complex (Goldstrohm et al., 2006, 2007), modify decapping or inhibit translation, the net effect of these mechanisms is a change in the stability of the class of mRNA to which these proteins bind.

The RNA operon concept is not limited to Puf proteins. Many other abundant RNA binding proteins potentially affect the stability of classes of mRNA. The formation of RNA protein complexes in the nucleus and the factors that affect mRNA export can influence whole classes of transcripts. Hrp1 (Nab4), an RNA biding shuttling protein that is required for mRNA export was found to strongly bind to transcripts encoding proteins involved in amino acid metabolism (Kim Guisbert et al., 2005). Changes of a single protein, like Hrp1, can thus affect the availability of a large number of mRNAs for cytoplasmic translation and their stability.

Analysis of mRNP composition by affinity purification of RNA bound to RNA binding proteins is not without technical biases and can lead to erroneous results. The use of porous agarose based affinity matrices leads to a heavily shifted representation of various classes of transcripts. Very large mRNPs are excluded from binding to chromatographic beads, unless those beads are small and compact and only allow affinity binding on their surface (Halbeisen et al., 2009). Fortunately, a more fine-grained image of mRNP composition became possible through the development of cross-linking and sequencing methods, best illustrated in yeast studies by the CRAC technique (Granneman et al., 2009), a variation of the widely used CLIP approach (Ule et al., 2003)(more details in chapter 14). Recent data on sets of RNA binding proteins and their RNA targets have further enriched our knowledge of mRNP composition at different stages of mRNA maturation or destruction (Klass et al., 2013; Mitchell et al., 2013; Tuck and Tollervey, 2013). Various methods have been used to analyse either the protein composition of poly(A)bound material (Garland et al., 2013; Mitchell et al., 2013) or the RNA composition of protein associated complexes stabilized through UV cross-linking (Tuck and Tollervey, 2013). These recent data are rich in information and are likely to vastly expand the knowledge on mRNAprotein interactions. Correlations between the various large-scale data sets are expected to bring more detail and mechanistic insights into which RNAs bind which proteins and in what physiological context these interactions are relevant.

#### 4 Nuclear degradation of nascent mRNA

The mRNA cap and poly(A) tail are the most important determinants of mRNA stability. Uncapped nascent transcripts, intermediates in mRNA formation and even mRNA that are not efficiently exported from the nucleus are the subject of degradation mechanisms that are confined to the nucleus. In addition to nuclear quality control of RNA, co-transcriptional recruitment of RNA binding proteins can affect the cytoplasmic stability of the corresponding mRNA (Bregman et al., 2011; Treek et al., 2011).

#### 4.1 mRNA capping and nuclear quality-control of the 5' end

mRNA capping is one of the first co-transcriptional modifications that occurs when nascent premRNA reaches 22 to 25 nucleotides in length (in human cells, Moteki and Price, 2002). The capping complex containing RNA 5' triphosphase and guanyltransferase activities was first purified from vaccinia virus (Ensinger et al., 1975). Forty years later, mechanistic details about three successive steps are available (Fig. 7.2). Cet1, an RNA 5' triphosphatase, hydrolyses the gamma-phosphate from the 5' end of the nascent transcript. This step is followed by a transfer of GMP to the diphosphate 5' end by Ceg1, an RNA guanyltransferase. Finally, Abd1, an RNA  $N^7$  Guanine methyltransferase transfers a methyl group on the guanine base at the  $N^7$  position (reviewed in Shatkin and Manley, 2000). The Cet1/Ceg1 heterodimer interacts with the Ser5 phosphorylated form of the CTD of RNA polymerase II. Based on structural studies of the capping complex (Gu et al., 2010), it was proposed that Cet1/Ceg1 are recruited by the Ser5 phosphorylated CTD near the transcription start site. Recruitment of Abd1 is maximal at about 100 nt downstream transcription start and is almost concomitant with the binding of the cap binding complex (CBC). Both Abd1 and CBC are required for the recruitment of the kinases Ctk1 and Bur5, which release the capping enzymes and promote RNA polymerase II elongation (Lidschreiber et al., 2013). If the capping process is erroneous, the resulting nascent transcripts are degraded from the 5' end in a process involving the exonuclease Rat1 and the associated factor Rai1 (Jiao et al., 2010).

*RAT1* was identified through a genetic screen for factors affecting RNA export from the nucleus (Amberg et al., 1992). The protein is a nuclear 5' to 3' exoribonuclease, which is similar in sequence with the cytoplasmic exonuclease Xrn1 and is partially functionally redundant in yeast (Johnson, 1997). Rat1 actively degrades RNA with a monophosphorylated 5'-end. Such an end can be generated by the decapping activity of Rai1, a Rat1 cofactor, that can remove the dinucleotide cap, especially if it is not methylated (Jiao et al., 2010) (Fig. 7.2). Completion of the capping reaction is affected under amino acid or glucose starvation, physiological conditions that might require rapid changes in mRNA transcription, export and degradation. Biochemical data also indicate that Rai1 stabilizes and stimulates Rat1 activity, which alone is relatively unstable (Xue et al., 2000), probably through the formation of heterodimers (Xiang et al., 2009). In addition to the involvement of Rat1 in the 5' to 3' degradation of partially capped or uncapped nascent transcripts, the enzyme also participates in transcription termination. Active degradation of RNA fragments synthesized by an RNA polymerase II after the cleavage step could serve in the removal of the polymerase from the DNA template ("torpedo" termination model, Luo et al., 2006; more details in chapter 1). The importance of the catalytic activity of Rat1 in this context

is not clear (Pearson and Moore, 2013).

#### 4.2 Nuclear retention and transcript degradation

Recognition and degradation of aberrant or intermediate mRNA forms that fail to mature properly is essential for the control of gene expression. Both nuclear and cytoplasmic degradation mechanisms are required for quality control of RNA. The balance between degradation into the nucleus or cytoplasm depends on export or retention of RNAs. Unspliced pre-mRNAs that are exported to the cytoplasm are degraded by nonsense mediated mRNA decay (NMD) (see chapter 8), but aberrant pre-mRNAs retained in the nucleus are efficiently degraded. One of the first observations of nuclear retention of unspliced pre-mRNA was done with beta-galactosidase reporters designed to distinguish exported unspliced pre-mRNA from the spliced form (Legrain and Rosbash, 1989). The involvement of the exosome in the degradation of pre-mRNA in the nucleus and functional links between 3' to 5' intranuclear degradation of transcripts and splicing were demonstrated later on endogenous RNAs (Bousquet-Antonelli et al., 2000). In Cryptococcus neoformans, an organism in which all mRNAs are generated from spliced transcripts, splicing seems an absolute requirement for mRNA export. Transcripts without introns are retained and degraded in the nucleus in a process dependent on C. neoformans Pab2 (Goebels et al., 2013), a protein related to Schizosaccharomyces pombe Pab2 (Lemieux and Bachand, 2009) and to S. cerevisiae Sgn1 (of unknown function).

If nuclear degradation is not effective, the yeast cells are able to degrade pre-mRNAs in the cytoplasm through NMD. Studies of cells with defective or absent *RRP6*, a nuclear 3' to 5' exonuclease and *NAM7* (*UPF1*) a major NMD factor, indicate that nuclear exosome and cytoplasmic NMD pathways could act sequentially. Blocking RNA export in a *mex67* mutant strain leads to an accumulation of unspliced mRNA in the absence of *RRP6* (Sayani and Chanfreau, 2012). Some pre-mRNAs are degraded predominantly by nuclear mechanisms while others are exported and degraded in the cytoplasm.

#### 4.3 Nuclear degradation from the 3' end: the exosome

The nuclear exosome is a conserved complex of proteins mentioned in the previous section as a key player in the 3' to 5' exonucleolytic degradation of RNA synthesized by all the eukaryotic RNA polymerases (tRNA, rRNA, nascent mRNA). The core exosome is present both in the nucleus and the cytoplasm and consists of nine subunits (Rrp4, Rrp40, Ski6/Rrp41, Rrp42, Rrp43, Rrp45, Rrp46, Csl4 and Mtr3) with which Dis3/Rrp44 is strongly associated (Mitchell et

al., 1997). The nuclear and cytoplasmic forms of the exosome differ in their binding partners and post-translational modifications of the components. Phosphorylation of Csl4 at Ser94 was found to be specific for the nuclear version of the exosome, associated with Rrp6, and is less present in the cytoplasmic version, associated with Ski7 (Synowsky et al., 2009). While the core exosome components are related to RNAses, only Dis3/Rrp44 is an active enzyme (Dziembowski et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2007) through two catalytic domains: one that belongs to the RNAse II 3' to 5' exonuclease family and a second, endonucleolytic PIN domain (Lebreton et al., 2008; Schaeffer et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2009). In addition to Dis3, Rrp6 is a strictly nuclear exonuclease of the 5' to 3' DEDD family of RNases (reviewed in Arraiano et al., 2013) associated with the nuclear core exosome.

The nine subunits of the core exosome are essential for yeast viability and form a ring structure (Liu et al., 2006). Mutations occluding the ring channel inhibit endo- and exonucleolytic activities suggesting that the core exosome modulates Rrp6 and Dis3 activity (Wasmuth and Lima, 2012). Unwound RNA substrates enter into the internal chamber formed by the 9 inactive subunits organized in a barrel-like structure (Makino et al., 2013a) and progress through the chamber up to the catalytic site of Dis3, which interacts with the bottom of the core exosome. Rrp6 is associated with the side in proximity of the mRNA entry point in the barrel-like structure and its catalytic site is exposed at the surface of the enzyme. The unwinding activity for the entry of mRNA into the internal chamber of the exosome is probably provided by Mtr4, a helicase of the DExH family that is similar to Ski2, a cytoplasmic RNA helicase associated with the exosome (see Ski complex, section 5.2).

#### 4.3.1 Mpp6 and Rrp47

Deletion of either *MPP6* or *RRP47/LRP1* has a negative effect on the growth of strains depleted for Rrp6 (Milligan et al., 2008 and CS, unpublished). Both proteins are also physically associated with Rrp6 and their function is partially redundant since deletion of the corresponding genes leads to a growth defect (Milligan et al., 2008). Rrp47 concomitantly interacts with Rrp6 and RNA through its N-terminal and C-terminal domains, respectively (Costello et al., 2011; Stead et al., 2007). In contrast to Mpp6, which recognizes pyrimidine-rich sequences, Rrp47 binds to structured RNA molecules suggesting that Rrp47 could promote the binding of Rrp6 to substrates (Butler and Mitchell, 2011 for review; Garland et al., 2013).

Mpp6 function and role in RNA degradation remain elusive. Deletion of the corresponding gene leads to growth defects specifically in association with concomitant deletion of genes for components of the TRAMP complex. Its association with Rrp6 in the nucleus as well as the effects of its deletion, revealed that Mpp6 is involved in surveillance and degradation of nuclear pre-mRNAs and pre-rRNA (Milligan et al., 2008). It was proposed that Mpp6 could also promote the activity of Dis3 and be involved in the functional coupling between Rrp6 and the TRAMP complexes (for review, Butler and Mitchell, 2010).

#### 4.3.2 TRAMP complexes

The nuclear exosome is helped by additional factors for degradation of its RNA substrates. A major functional nuclear co-factor of the exosome that adds poly(A) tails to nuclear RNA is the TRAMP complex. TRAMP complexes are formed of a poly(A) polymerase (Trf4 or Trf5), an RNA helicase of the DexH family (Mtr4) and of a Zn-knuckle RNA binding protein (Air1 or Air2) (LaCava et al., 2005; Vanácová et al., 2005; Wyers et al., 2005). At least two TRAMP complexes with different substrate specificity have been described. A major difference between these complexes is the Trf component, with Trf5-TRAMP most likely located to the nucleolus (Wery et al., 2009) and Trf4-TRAMP located into the nucleoplasm. A comparative transcriptome analysis of  $trf4\Delta$  or  $trf5\Delta$  mutants indicates that the two proteins affect the expression of distinct sets of genes (San Paolo et al., 2009). In addition, Air1 is mostly present in the Trf5-TRAMP complex while Air2 is mainly present in Trf4-TRAMP (reviewed in Houseley et al., 2006). These differences correlate well with recent RNA sequencing data obtained with  $air I\Delta$  and  $air 2\Delta$  mutants, which revealed, as expected, a different global effect of each mutant on transcripts levels (Schmidt et al., 2012). A TRAMP complex would bind the RNA targets through its RNA-binding subunit Air1 or Air2 and add a poly(A) tail through its Trf4/5 polymerase subunit (Holub et al., 2012). The addition of poly(A) tails allows better access of the target to the nuclear exosome. The TRAMP complex is also able to enhance RNA degradation by Rrp6 independently of the presence of exosome in vitro (Callahan and Butler, 2010).

#### 4.3.3 The Nrd1/Nab3/Sen1 complex (NNS)

Deciding whether an mRNA precursor will be stable until export to the cytoplasm or not was shown to depend in most instances on the way transcription by RNA polymerase II ends. Early transcription termination can occur by a pathway that is linked with nuclear processing or degradation of the corresponding RNA. Acting upstream of the nuclear exosome and TRAMP complexes, this pathway depends on a transcription termination complex and marks the corresponding RNAs as exosome targets (Fig. 7.3). The NNS complex is formed of Nrd1 and Nab3, two RNA binding proteins, which preferentially recognize short RNA motifs (such as

GUAA and UCUUG, Porrua et al., 2012) and Sen1, an RNA helicase. In contrast to the cleavage and polyadenylation complex that is required for transcription termination of most mRNAs (see chapter 3), the NNS complex is involved in transcriptional termination of cryptic unstable non-coding RNA (CUT) and of stable non-coding RNA like snoRNA and snRNA (reviewed in Jensen et al., 2013). Nrd1/Nab3 binding sites are underrepresented in mRNAs, which are thus less sensitive to the NNS-TRAMP-exosome dependent termination degradation pathway.

#### 4.3.4 Nuclear mRNA degradation and regulation

NNS termination can play an important role in regulating mRNA levels. *RPL9B*, a gene coding for a ribosomal protein of the large 60S subunit has a choice between the two modes of transcriptional termination that depend on the level of nuclear Rpl9 protein. The protein binds a stem-loop located in the 3' UTR of the primary transcript of *RPL9B* and inhibits normal transcription termination. Alternative termination through NNS leads to efficient nuclear degradation of the transcript and effectively regulates mRNA levels for *RPL9B* (Gudipati et al., 2012).

*NRD1* expression is regulated by premature transcription termination through the interaction of the Nrd1 protein with its own mRNA (Arigo et al., 2006). High-throughput analyses through cross-linking, protein purification and RNA sequencing revealed that Nrd1-Nab3 complexes are recruited during transcription of a large number of mRNAs, suggesting that the NNS complexes could be widely involved in mRNA down regulation (Schulz et al., 2013; Wlotzka et al., 2011).

Transcript retention or export play an important role in deciding which degradation pathway a given molecule will take. Polyadenylation of transcripts plays an important role in nuclear export. Co-transcriptional recruitment of Nab2, a nuclear poly(A) binding protein (Anderson et al., 1993) is one of the molecular events that shape the export competent mRNA protein complexes (Green et al., 2002; Hector et al., 2002). Nab2 interaction with Mex67 and Yra1, mRNA export factors, could ensure recruitment of the Mex67-Mtr2 complex (Iglesias et al., 2010), and further interactions with the nuclear pore proteins. In addition to a general role in mRNA export, Nab2 regulates its own expression levels by acting at the level of the 3' end formation of its own mRNA. This process depends on a genome encoded repeat of 26 adenosines found downstream the stop codon for *NAB2* (Roth et al., 2005). The autoregulation of *NAB2* depends on the encoded poly(A) sequence and also requires the nuclear exosome and TRAMP complexes (Roth et al., 2009). *NAB2* is thus an example of auto-regulation mechanism that uses nuclear degradation of a transcript to reduce gene expression.

### 5 Cytoplasmic mRNA degradation

Cytoplasmic mRNA decay occurs mainly from both the 5' and the 3' end, with little or no endonucleolysis occurring in yeast. Whatever the pathway, deadenylation is considered to be the first step in mRNA turnover. In 1975, Darnell's lab observed a correlation between poly(A) tail shortening and mRNA turnover in HeLa cells (Sheiness et al., 1975). Using stable and especially the *MFA2* unstable mRNA, it was later established that deadenylation is the first step required for mRNA decay in *S. cerevisiae* (Muhlrad et al., 1994). Two complexes, Pan2/Pan3 and Ccr4/Not, are involved in the deadenylation process. Once deadenylated, mRNA is predominantly degraded by the 5' to 3' degradation pathway, which is initiated by the removal of the cap structure by the Dcp2/Dcp1 complex with the help of enhancers of decapping. After decapping, the 5' end of mRNA is accessible to the cytoplasmic exonuclease Xrn1, related to the nuclear exonuclease Rat1. Cytoplasmic mRNA degradation and translation are tightly related through translational repressors that also act as activators of decapping. After deadenylation, mRNA can also be degraded by the 3' to 5' pathway. This degradation is done by the cytoplasmic exosome with help from specific cytoplasmic cofactors, the Ski complex and Ski7. An overview of the cytoplasmic degradation pathways is presented in Fig. 7.4.

#### 5.1 Cytoplasmic mRNA deadenylation

#### 5.1.1 Poly(A) binding proteins Pab1 and Pub1

Pab1, for poly(A) binding protein, was first isolated and its gene identified by Sachs and Kornberg (Sachs et al., 1986). This protein binds specifically poly(A) through four RNA recognition motifs (RRM); however the first two RRMs are sufficient for most *in vivo* functions of the protein. A minimum of 12 adenosines is required for the association and multiple associations define a coverage unit of 27 adenosines (Sachs et al., 1987). One of the best characterized roles of Pab1, which decorates the 3' end of transcripts like beads on a string (Baer and Kornberg, 1980, 1983), is to assist translation initiation through specific interactions with the translation initiation factor eIF4G (Tif4631/Tif4632 in yeast). eIF4G binds the cap binding protein eIF4E (Cdc33 in *S. cerevisiae*). These interactions lead to the formation of a "closed loop" structure, which was proposed to promote translation initiation and ribosome recycling (Amrani et al., 2008; see chapter 5). Depletion of Pab1 leads to an inhibition of poly(A) tail shortening and has strong functional interactions with factors involved in 60S ribosomal subunit biogenesis (Sachs and Davis, 1989). Thus, paradoxically, Pab1 both protects the polyA from degradation and contributes to the controlled 3' end trimming, presumably by recruiting the

Pan2/3 complex (Mangus et al., 2004b) and by inhibiting the deadenylase activity of Ccr4/Not (Tucker et al., 2002).

In addition to Pab1 and Nab2, which are mainly cytoplasmic and nuclear respectively, Pub1 is a third polyA binding protein present in both cellular compartments but mainly located in the cytoplasm (Matunis et al., 1993). Pub1 also recognizes poly(U) stretches and interacts with 5' and 3' UTR regions in several mRNAs. In contrast to Pab1, Pub1 is not associated with translationally active mRNAs (Anderson et al., 1993b). Pub1 is abundant but not essential for growth of cells under laboratory conditions. The protein is involved in mRNA stability and translational control under environmental stress and colocalizes with Pab1, eIF4G1 and eIF4G2, *inter alia*, in granules in glucose deprivation stress and is required for the formation of these granules (Buchan et al., 2008). Of the three RRM motifs found in Pub1, at least one is required for an interaction with eIF4G. It was thus proposed that Pub1 could act cooperatively with Pab1 to simultaneously interact with eIF4G (Santiveri et al., 2011).

#### 5.1.2 The Pan2/Pan3 deadenylase

PAN stands for poly(A) nuclease and corresponds to a cytoplasmic enzymatic activity that shortens poly(A) tails of yeast transcripts only in the presence of the poly(A) binding protein Pab1. The identification of the PAN complex components was the result of a purification procedure that enriched a Pab1 dependent deadenylase activity (Sachs and Deardorff, 1992). Initially, a co-purifying protein, called Pan1, was thought to be the enzyme required for the observed Mg<sup>2+</sup> dependent exonuclease activity. However, an increase in the amounts of purified complex and further analyses around the role of Pan1 in the catalytic activity of the purified fraction have shown that the isolated deadenylase consisted of two subunits: Pan2, the enzyme (Boeck et al., 1996) and Pan3, a cofactor (Brown et al., 1996). While the catalytic center belongs to Pan2, Pan3 is required to an equal extent for the deadenylase activity of the complex. The Sachs group, involved in the initial identification of the Pan proteins demonstrated later that the Pan2/Pan3 complex plays a role in the modulation of poly(A) tail length distribution in yeast (Brown and Sachs, 1998).

Pan2 is a 3' to 5' exonuclease of the DEDD family (ribonucleases reviewed in Arraiano et al., 2013) that slowly removes 5' AMP from the 3' end of a poly(A) tail only in the presence of Pab1 but will not proceed to lengths inferior to 20 nucleotides *in vitro* (Lowell et al., 1992). The enzyme generates *in vitro* the entire range of oligo(A) intermediates, showing a distributive mode of action. The *in vivo* role of Pan2/Pan3 in deadenylation of mRNA remains poorly characterized.

#### 5.1.3 The Ccr4/Not deadenylase

Deadenylation of mRNA in the cytoplasm requires the Ccr4/Not complex, also called the major mRNA deadenylase complex. Ccr4/Not complex is formed of nine subunits (Not1, Not2, Not3, Not4, Not5, Ccr4, Pop2, Caf40 and Caf130). Not1 is the scaffold protein on which various partners bind: the C-terminal part recruits Not2, Not3, Not4 and Not5 (the Not module) and the N-terminal part recruits Ccr4 and Pop2 (the nuclease module) (Basquin et al., 2012). Ccr4 bears the main catalytic activity (Tucker et al., 2002) while Pop2 contains a RNAse D domain and has an exonuclease activity *in vitro* (Daugeron et al., 2001). To what extent Ccr4 and Pop2 cooperate in the deadenylation process remains unclear. The deletion of the other genes of the complex only weakly slows down deadenylation of a model substrate. It was proposed that the Not module could adapt the deadenylase complex to mRNA according to the cellular context. To gain a better understanding of the role of each component of the Not module, genome wide analyses using deletion mutants suggested that the Ccr4/Not complex is involved in a number of other cellular functions (for review, see Collart and Panasenko, 2012).

The Pan2/3 and Ccr4/Not complexes in association with Pab1 are involved in 3' end deadenylation. It is believed that Pan2/3 acts first to shorten the poly(A) of newly synthesized mRNA. Next, it is the Ccr4 complex that deadenylates mRNAs until the tail reaches a length of 10 to 12 residues, and can be bound by the Lsm complex and Pat1 that trigger mRNA decapping (for a review, Parker, 2012).

#### 5.2 Cytoplasmic degradation from the 3' end: the exosome with Ski

The cytoplasmic exosome contains the same factors as the nuclear version but associates with the cytoplasmic Ski complex and Ski7, instead of nuclear Rrp6 or the TRAMP complex. The Ski complex is formed of three proteins and was initially identified for its role in the degradation of viral RNA in yeast. Yeasts deficient for *SKI* genes have a <u>super-killer</u> phenotype because a virally encoded toxin is expressed at higher levels and kills neighbouring susceptible yeasts (Toh-E et al., 1978; Widner and Wickner, 1993). While Ski2 is an RNA helicase related to nuclear Mtr4, Ski3 and Ski8 contain structural motifs that allow protein-protein interactions; tetratricopeptide repeats (TPR) for Ski3 and WD40 repeats for Ski8. Native mass spectrometry experiments showed that the Ski complex is a hetero-tetramer composed of two molecules of Ski8 and one copy of Ski2 and Ski3 (Synowsky and Heck, 2008). Recently, the crystal structure of the complex revealed its organization in which Ski3 plays a scaffold role. RNase protection assays on RNA in presence of exosomes with or without Ski7 and the Ski complex revealed RNA fragments of 43-44 nt or 31-33 nt respectively, indicating that fragments of RNA are

protected in the exosome channel (Halbach et al., 2013). Interestingly, the large size of the protected fragments was compatible with the sum of the size of the channel of the Ski complex and the exosome channel suggesting that the two complexes are stacked in close proximity. Therefore, the structural organization of the exosome and Ski complex bears similarities with the proteasome structure. The Ski complex would play the role of the regulatory 19S proteasome subunit and the core exosome would be structurally similar to the 20S proteasome (Makino et al., 2013b).

The role of Ski7, which strongly associates with the cytoplasmic exosome remains elusive. No structural data exists on Ski7 but an association of the protein with the Ski complex (Araki et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2005) and with the Csl4 subunit of the exosome (Schaeffer et al., 2009) were shown. Ski7 homologues cannot be found outside yeasts in contrast to the components of the Ski complex and exosome, which are highly conserved in eukaryotes. It has been proposed that yeast Ski7 resulted from divergent evolution of a duplicated ancestral Ski7/Hbs1 gene (Marshall et al., 2013). Hbs1 is a conserved protein related to translation termination factors and involved in solving the problem of ribosomes stalled on mRNA. Subfunctionalization of Hbs1 and Ski7 was potentially influenced by the requirement for maintaining yeast viral systems that have no equivalent in other eukaryotes (see Drinnenberg et al., 2011).

In contrast to *S. cerevisiae*, where only one version of *DIS3* exists, *S. pombe* cells contain a related enzyme called *DIS3L2*. This exonuclease is cytoplasmic, shows preference for poly(U) tailed transcripts and does not require the rest of the exosome subunits for its activity (Malecki et al., 2013). Poly-urydilated substrates in *S. pombe* could results from the action of Cid1, an enzyme related to Trf4 and Trf5 (Wang et al., 2000). Cid1 is cytoplasmic and shows both a poly(A) polymerase activity and a significant poly(U) polymerase activity on a model RNA substrate *in vitro* (Read et al., 2002). Uridylation of substrates does not require prior deadenylation and facilitates the binding of the Pat1/Lsm complex for decapping and mRNA degradation (Rissland and Norbury, 2009). The specific role of Dis3l2 and the number and importance of substrates that are poly-uridylated for degradation in *S. pombe* remains to be investigated.

#### 5.3 Cytoplasmic degradation from the 5' end

5.3.1 The cytoplasmic decapping enzyme (Dcp1-Dcp2)

In 1976, J. Warner's laboratory published the observation that yeast mRNA contains a modified 5' end with either m7G(5')pppAp or m7G(5')pppGp (Sripati et al., 1976). A correlation between

the 5' end structure and mRNA stability was later described by experiments with viral mRNA injected into *X. laevis* oocytes or incubated with cellular extracts from mouse cells (Furuichi et al., 1977). An important conclusion of this study was that capped mRNAs were not degraded from 5' to 3' and their stability was independent of translation. In 1980, a decapping activity was detected from a high concentration salt wash ribosomal fraction by Audrey Stevens who purified a decapping enzyme from *S. cerevisiae* (Stevens, 1980, 1988). A decade later, the first decapping enzyme gene, *DCP1* was identified by Parker's laboratory (Beelman et al., 1996). Genetic screens using a *dcp1-2 ski8*\Delta strain, allowed the isolation of a second decapping gene, *DCP2* (Dunckley and Parker, 1999). Human Dcp2 was shown to bear the decapping catalytic activity (van Dijk et al., 2002) and in yeast it was also shown that Dcp1 plays the role of an auxilliary, albeit important, factor for the Dcp1/2 heterodimer (Steiger et al., 2003). The binding of Dcp1 to the N-terminal domain of Dcp2 was later shown to promote the catalytic activity without affecting the binding of RNA to the C-terminal Nudix domain of Dcp2 (Deshmukh et al., 2008).

Dcp2 is not the only decapping enzyme in yeast. Dxo1, sharing a weak homology with Rai1 was identified as a novel decapping enzyme, which also has a 5' to 3' exonuclease activity (Chang et al., 2012). Global GFP-fusion protein localization indicates that Dxo1 is mainly present in the cytoplasm. However, additional studies are required to determine whether Dxo1 is strictly cytoplasmic or could be also involved in nuclear decapping processes.

#### 5.3.2 Activators of decapping: Edc1, Edc2, Edc3

Two regulators or "enhancers" of decapping, Edc1 and Edc2 were isolated from a genetic screen looking for genes whose overexpression could restore the viability of a dcp1-2  $ski8\Delta$  strain (Dunckley et al., 2001). These proteins bind RNA and directly interact with Dcp1 *via* their proline-rich regions to stimulate the activity of the decapping enzyme (Schwartz et al., 2003; Borja et al., 2011).

Edc3 was originally selected in two-hybrid screens as physical partners of Lsm proteins, Dcp2 and Xrn1 suggesting that the protein could play a role in mRNA decay (Fromont-Racine et al., 2000). Unlike Edc1 and Edc2, Edc3 is a conserved protein in most eukaryotes and its sequence contains an Sm-domain (Albrecht and Lengauer, 2004). In the absence of *EDC3*, Dcp1 and Dcp2 defective strains show lower decapping levels (Kshirsagar and Parker, 2004). These effects of Edc3 can be explained by its direct interaction with Dcp2 (Harigaya et al., 2010; Nissan et al., 2010).

While Edc3 participates in general decapping, it has an essential role in specific degradation mechanism that ensure autoregulation of *RPS28B* and *YRA1* expression. The presence of a conserved stem-loop structure in the long 3' UTR of the transcript for the ribosomal protein Rps28b triggers rapid mRNA decay through a mechanism that bypasses deadenylation and directly activates decapping (Badis et al., 2004). *YRA1* auto-regulation occurs by a mechanism in which the protein Yra1 acts to inhibit its own pre-mRNA splicing. The degradation of the unspliced precursor is stimulated in the presence of Edc3 (Dong et al., 2007). Initial deadenylation is thus not an absolute pre-requisite for decapping activation, at least in a few known cases.

#### 5.3.3 The Lsm complex – RNA chaperone and decapping activator

The Lsm proteins are characterized by the presence of two Sm motifs that are similar to protein sequences found in snRNP particles components. A search for like-Sm domains identified a family of related Lsm proteins (Fromont-Racine et al., 1997; Salgado-Garrido et al., 1999). Two-hybrid screens with each Lsm protein revealed that they were highly connected to each other. These screens also indicated potential roles for the Lsm proteins in two different processes, the nuclear splicing pathway and cytoplasmic mRNA degradation involving Dcp1, Dcp2, Pat1, Xrn1 and Yel015 later known as Edc3/Lsm16 (Fromont-Racine et al., 2000). Lsm1 was shown to facilitate mRNA decapping (Boeck et al., 1998). Affinity purifications and functional experiments demonstrated that the Lsm1-7 cytoplasmic complex was involved in mRNA degradation whereas the Lsm2-8 nuclear complex was involved in splicing. In *lsm* mutant strains, lsm1 to lsm7, mRNAs are still capped but their 3' ends are oligoadenylated (10 to 12 residues) indicating that the Lsm complex was required for mRNA decapping (Bouveret et al., 2000; Tharun and Parker, 2001; Tharun et al., 2000).

The Lsm1-7 and Lsm2-8 complexes form ring-shaped heptameric assemblies, which directly bind to the 3' end of mRNAs. *In vitro* experiments revealed that Lsm complexes preferentially bind oligoadenylated rather than polyadenylated mRNA and that the presence of a U-rich stretch of nucleotides near the 3' end facilitates the binding (Chowdhury et al., 2007). Binding of Lsm1-7 to the RNA protects the 3' end of an mRNA from the degradation by the exosome (Chowdhury et al., 2007; He and Parker, 2001). Therefore Lsm complexes could have a role as both enhancers of decapping and protectors of oligoadenylated 3' end trimming. Unlike many of the factors described here that are specific for eukaryotes, Lsms have equivalents in prokaryotes: the Hfq proteins. Hfq form multimeric rings that bind and affect the function and stability of many non-coding regulatory RNAs in bacteria (for review, see De Lay et al., 2013).

#### 5.3.4 Pat1, Dhh1 and Scd6 - linking translation and mRNA decay

Translation and mRNA decay are tightly linked through the action of proteins that have roles in both processes. Three such proteins stand out: Pat1, Dhh1, a DEAD box helicase and Scd6 that is endowed with an Sm domain variant and was also called Lsm13 (Albrecht and Lengauer, 2004). These proteins affect both mRNA degradation and translational repression (Coller and Parker, 2005). Furthermore, these factors as well as most of the factors involved in mRNA decapping co-localise with translation repression proteins in P bodies (for review, see Eulalio et al., 2007a).

Pat1 is a key player in mRNA degradation because it serves as a scaffold for decapping and activator of decapping components (Nissan et al., 2010). The N-terminal part of the protein interacts with Dhh1 whereas the middle and C-terminal domains interact with the Lsm complex, Dcp1/2, Xrn1 and the Ccr4/Not complex. Pat1 was originally identified as interacting with all the Lsm proteins in two-hybrid screens (Fromont-Racine et al., 2000). Surprisingly, the binding of Pat1 (via the C-terminal part of Pat1) to the cytoplasmic Lsm complex is not provided by Lsm1, which is the specific cytoplasmic subunit, but by Lsm2 and Lsm3, as shown by recent structural work (Sharif and Conti, 2013; Wu et al., 2013). Mutations in the C-terminal domain of Pat1 or in the C-terminal helix of Lsm2 or in the N-terminal helix of Lsm3, which impede the interactions between Pat1 and the Lsm complex affect mRNA decapping and 3' to 5' degradation (Wu et al., 2013).

The DEAD box helicase Dhh1 functions in mRNA decapping and interacts with both decapping and deadenylase complexes (Coller et al., 2001). Dhh1 binds to RNA and also associates with Edc3 or the N-terminal part of Pat1. There is a competition between Pat1 and Edc3 for binding to Dhh1, which interferes with the RNA binding capacity of Dhh1. Competition for binding could thus lead to variable remodelling of the corresponding mRNP (Sharif et al., 2013). It was proposed that Dhh1 is especially present on slowly translated mRNA molecules and that slow translation could favour mRNA decapping (Sweet et al., 2012).

In addition to its Sm domain, Scd6 contains an RGG motif that allows its association with the eIF4G subunit of eIF4F translation initiation complex and participates to translation repression. Edc3 and Scd6 compete through their Lsm motifs for the same HLM domains of Dcp2 (Fromm et al., 2012). *In vitro* decapping assays revealed that both Edc3 and Scd6 are able to stimulate Dcp1/Dcp2 decapping activity. However, Scd6 has a relatively low affinity for Dcp2 and Scd6-mediated activation is weak. Moreover, since Dcp2 contains several HLM motifs, it can bind concomitantly to different partners and it is not clear in which physiologically relevant

conditions the competition between different binders that can affect decapping is important.

#### 5.3.5 Additional factors in mRNA decay: Pbp1, Pbp4 and Lsm12

Pbp1, Pab1 binding protein 1, was identified through a two-hybrid screen in association with Pab1 (Mangus et al., 1998). The same group identified later Pbp4, a factor that interacts with Pbp1 (Mangus et al., 2004a). Together with Lsm12, identified through its Sm motif, Pbp1 and Pbp4 are part of the same complex that interacts with ribosomes (Fleischer et al., 2006). The absence of any of these three factors has a negative effect on growth of yeast strains that also contain a deletion of *EDC3* (Decourty et al., 2008). Moreover, these factors colocalize together with Pab1 in stress granules in glucose deprived cells (Shah et al., 2013). Pbp1 promotes the formation of stress granules that contain Lsm12 and Pbp4, whereas Pbp4 has no effect on the stress granules containing Lsm12 or Pbp1 (Swisher and Parker, 2010). Pbp1 was also proposed to be involved in the regulation of poly(A) length through its interaction with Pab1 that could inhibit the recruitment of the Pan2/3 complex (Mangus et al., 2004b). While the Pbp1/Pbp4/Lsm12 complex is functionally linked with mRNA decay, the cellular role of these proteins remains unclear.

#### 5.4 The 5' to 3' degradation of unprotected RNA: Xrn1

Xrn1 is the major 5' to 3' exonuclease in the cytoplasm and hydrolyses RNA that starts with a 5' monophosphate. Pioneer work leading to the discovery and initial characterization of Xrn1 came mostly from A. Stevens laboratory. The existence of a 5' to 3' enzymatic activity in eukaryotic cells was first suspected at the end of the 1970s because it was observed that uncapped mRNA were hydrolysed by crude extracts or by purified enzymatic yeast fractions whereas capped RNA were not (Furuichi et al., 1977; Stevens, 1978). Ten years later, the gene coding for Xrn1 was cloned from yeast (Larimer and Stevens, 1990). While yeast cells could adapt to the absence of the gene, their growth rate was severely affected. It was later shown that the absence of Xrn1 leads to accumulation of poly(A) deficient mRNA that lack the cap structure (Hsu and Stevens, 1993). Moreover, looking at endogenous mRNA in pulse-chase experiments highlighted a decrease of the mRNA turnover rate in *xrn1* mutants, which was the first evidence for a global role of Xrn1 in mRNA decay. The use of mRNA reporters containing a stretch of Gs (guanosine residues), that Xrn1 cannot degrade, allowed a description of RNA degradation species, leading to current models for mRNA decay (Muhlrad et al., 1994).

RNA sequencing performed with an *xrn1*-deficient strain identified a subgroup of non-coding transcripts, which were called XUT for Xrn1-sensitive unstable transcripts (van Dijk et al.,

2011), probably derived from pervasive transcription products that escape to the cytoplasm. In addition to a role of Xrn1 in mRNA turnover, the enzyme is thus also very important for its clearing function for cytoplasmic non-coding RNA.

Xrn1 is involved in lithium toxicity in yeast. It has been shown that lithium inhibits Hal2, an enzyme that converts adenosine 3',5' bisphosphate (pAp) into AMP. The accumulation of pAp inhibits Xrn1 and the RNase MRP (Dichtl et al., 1997). Whether these effects in yeast could have a counterpart in the mechanism of action of lithium salts, an effective treatment of psychiatric disorders in humans, remains unknown. However, lithium treatment of yeast cells is an effective tool for the study of otherwise unstable RNA species that are substrates of the ribonucleases.

#### 5.5 Recycling of RNA degradation byproducts: Dcs1/Dcs2

When a capped RNA is degraded from 3' to 5', the last product of the enzymatic hydrolysis is the dinucleotide m7GpppN or oligonucleotides of the form m7GpppNNN. A "scavenger" mRNA decapping enzyme that can degrade these end products of mRNA decay, DcpS, was first identified in mammalian cells (Liu et al., 2002; Wang and Kiledjian, 2001). The enzyme contains a HIT motif (His-X-His-X, where X is a hydrophobic amino acid) essential for the cap hydrolysis activity. Recombinant DcpS is able to hydrolyse analogues of methylated cap or capped mRNA inferior in length to 10 nucleotides, suggesting that DcpS is unable to bind intact mRNA but degrade the residual cap structure after 3' to 5' exosome degradation. A sequence search in S. cerevisiae database identified two orthologues of human DcpS, Dcs1/Dcs2 (Liu et al., 2002). Despite the strong homology between Dcs1 and Dcs2, only Dcs1 seem to have a catalytic activity. Both proteins form a heterodimer and it was suggested that Dcs2 could be a modulator of Dcs1 activity (Malys et al., 2004). Deletion of Dcs1 leads to an accumulation of uncapped mRNA, which is the result of a decrease of 5' to 3' exonuclease activity showing that Dcs1/Dcs2 are not only involved in the clearance of the cap structure but also participate in the 5' to 3' mRNA decay by facilitating Xrn1 activity (Liu and Kiledjian, 2005). It has been recently shown by *in vitro* assays that Dcs1 directly activates Xrn1 and that Dcs1 is an in vivo cofactor of Xrn1 important for respiration in yeast (Sinturel et al., 2012).

#### 5.6 P bodies are large aggregates of proteins involved in RNA decay

An estimated 15% of yeast proteins form aggregates in the cytoplasm of starved cells, as discovered from systematic analyses of GFP fusion yeast strain collections (Narayanaswamy et al., 2009; Noree et al., 2010; as reviewed by O'Connell et al., 2012). Many of the described

aggregation prone proteins are involved in glucose, amino acid or nucleotide metabolism. Proteins involved in mRNA decay, like the decapping enzyme Dcp2 and exonuclease Xrn1 had been also known for some time to form visible foci in the cytoplasm of mammalian (Bashkirov et al., 1997; van Dijk et al., 2002; Ingelfinger et al., 2002) and yeast cells (Sheth and Parker, 2003). Several experiments were used to propose that the Dcp/Xrn1 aggregates, called processing bodies or P bodies were sites where mRNA decapping and 5' to 3' degradation occurs (see also Cougot et al., 2004 for mammalian cells experiments). Treatment of cells with cycloheximide, which blocks translation, is followed by a redistribution of P body components, like Dcp1, to the entire cytoplasm (Sheth and Parker, 2003).

While P bodies could be places of mRNA degradation, the bulk of mRNA degradation was proposed to occur in polysome complexes (Hu et al., 2009). In addition, P body formation was found to be uncoupled from mRNA degradation both in yeast and in *D. melanogaster* cells (Decker et al., 2007; Eulalio et al., 2007b; Sweet et al., 2007). The number of proteins capable of entering P bodies has increased recently as a result of a systematic search for RNA binding proteins (Mitchell et al., 2013). The list of proteins present in distinct cytoplasmic foci when cells are deprived of glucose is long and includes: Dhh1, Eap1, Gis2, Hek2, Pat1, Pbp1, Pub1, Puf2-3-4-5, Sro9, Tif4631, Upf1, Upf3, Xrn1 among others. A historical perspective of P body discovery thoroughly describes both the complex protein composition of these aggregates and the relationship with other cytoplasmic large aggregates like stress granules (Jain and Parker, 2013).

The main difference between stress granules and P bodies is that they form as a results of a different stress and contain 40S ribosomal subunit components together with translation initiation factors. Due to this difference in composition, it was proposed that stress granules serve as sites of mRNA storage (reviewed in Yamasaki and Anderson, 2008).

P bodies could be a result of the propensity of RNA binding proteins to aggregate and their formation is increased by stress. It has been proposed recently that Pat1, one of the factors that could link mRNA translation and decay, could be the promoter of P body formation under glucose starvation (Ramachandran et al., 2011; Shah et al., 2013). Protein kinase A (PKA) signaling in yeast is important for the response of cells to glucose concentration. PKA is activated in response to glucose and leads to major changes in the yeast transcriptome (Zaman et al., 2009). Pat1 phosphorylation by PKA was shown to affect P body formation and point mutations of the phosphorylated residues influence the number of foci and their dynamics (Shah et al., 2013). At least another signaling pathway, involving protein kinases Pkh1/2 and Pkc1

affect P body formation and mRNA decay (Luo et al., 2011). The role of P bodies, how they form and the extent to which they serve as foci of RNA degradation or storage remains under very active investigation.

#### 6 Mitochondrial mRNA degradation

A relatively small group of 19 protein-coding RNAs in *S. cerevisiae* are synthesized in mitochondria (Turk et al., 2013) and are subject to intra-organellar decay through mechanisms that are radically different from the nuclear derived mRNAs. Formation of mature mRNA sequences depends on processing of multigene transcripts. The mRNAs are not polyadenylated but can contain large untranslated regions. An interesting feature of mitochondrial mRNA 3' end is the presence of an A-rich sequence called dodecamer 5'-AAUAAUAUUCUU-3' that serves both as an endonucleolytic mark and as a protective sequence (Hofmann et al., 1993; Osinga et al., 1984).

mRNA degradation is mainly achieved by a complex named mitochondrial degradosome (mtEXO) that has two components: Dss1, a 3' to 5' exonuclease related to the RNAse II-like family (Dmochowska et al., 1995; Min et al., 1993) and Suv3, an ATP-dependent RNA helicase related to the Ski2 DExH/D superfamily (Stepien et al., 1992). Both components of the mtEXO are coded by the nuclear genome. The absence of Suv3 leads to a respiratory phenotype and to the accumulation of aberrant mitochondrial RNA. Point mutations in the gene for the mitochondrial RNA polymerase (Rpo41) or its essential cofactor Mtf1 partially restore the phenotype of a *suv3* $\Delta$  strain. It was proposed that maintenance of the balance between mRNA synthesis and degradation is essential for mitochondrial function (Rogowska et al., 2006). In contrast to the related bacterial degradosomes (reviewed in Bandyra et al., 2013), mtEXO degrades mRNAs that are not polyadenylated in *S. cerevisiae*.

Mitochondrial gene regulation seems to be highly different among eukaryotes. As an example, in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, mitochondrial mRNAs are polyadenylated and it was recently shown that two proteins regulate the poly(A) tail length. Interestingly, expression of the poly(A) polymerase *AGS1* from *A. thaliana* in yeast results in polyadenylation of the *COX3* mitochondrial mRNA, which is not normally polyadenylated (Hirayama et al., 2013). In *S. pombe*, the equivalent of mtEXO is composed of two proteins, Pah1 for the helicase and Par1 for the RNase, but RNA degradation is significantly different from *S. cerevisiae*. *SUV3* overexpression is able to restore the defect of *pah1* whereas Dss1 is not functional in a *par1* strain. In *S. pombe*, this complex was proposed to be mainly involved in 3' end mRNA

maturation and was accordingly named a "processosome" (Hoffmann et al., 2008).

The existence of a 5' to 3' degradation pathway for mitochondrial mRNAs is still questionable. Since mitochondrial mRNAs are synthesized multigenic transcripts, their 5' end needs processing to become mature. In the absence of Pet127, precursor mRNAs accumulate. Moreover, when the 5' ends of intermediate mRNAs are not protected they accumulate in  $pet127\Delta$  mutant strain (Wiesenberger and Fox, 1997). These results suggest that processing and degradation could be coupled. Pet127 is a potential candidate for a 5' to 3' mRNA degradation factor, but there is no direct evidence of an enzymatic function of the protein, which does not possess any detectable RNase signature. However, overexpression of *PET127* can suppress the deletion of *SUV3* or *DSS1* suggesting that 5' to 3' and the 3' to 5' redundant pathways could exist in mitochondria (Wegierski et al., 1998).

## 7 Conclusion

While many factors involved in mRNA degradation and turnover are now known to exist, how they collaborate, on which substrates they act and under what environmental conditions, remain open questions. It will be interesting to see to what extent general models of mRNA decay proposed on the basis of studies of individual reporters will stand the test of time and the "storm" of large-scale data that are growing exponentially.

## 8 Acknowledgments.

We thank Alain Jacquier and Frank Feuerbach for criticism of the manuscript. Funding was provided by the Institut Pasteur, the CNRS, and the French Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-2011-BSV6-011-02 and ANR-2008-JCJC-0019-01/GENO-GIM).

# 9 Figure legends

**Figure 1**. Tools for large-scale analysis of mRNA turnover. **A.** Structure of the modified U base that can be used in pulse-chase experiments **B.** Incorporation of 4-thioU in RNA by yeast cells during a pulse period is followed by the purification of newly synthesized RNA at different time points of "chase". The amounts of newly synthesized RNA are estimated through sequencing or DNA microarray analyses. **C.** General blockers of mRNA transcription, including a temperature

sensitive mutant of an RNA polymerase subunit and two toxic chemicals used for turnover estimations.

**Figure 2**. Formation and degradation of capped mRNA and *S. cerevisiae* enzymes involved in the process.

**Figure 3**. Nrd1-Nab3-Sen1 play an important role in an alternative transcription termination pathway that is linked with poly(A) addition by the TRAMP complex and degradation by the nuclear exosome. Such termination is most efficient on short transcripts.

**Figure 4**. Pathways for the cytoplasmic degradation of mRNA. Known functions and substrates of the different decay factors are discussed in the text.

#### **10 References**

- Albrecht, M., and Lengauer, T. (2004). Novel Sm-like proteins with long C-terminal tails and associated methyltransferases. FEBS Lett. 569, 18–26.
- Amberg, D.C., Goldstein, A.L., and Cole, C.N. (1992). Isolation and characterization of RAT1: an essential gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae required for the efficient nucleocytoplasmic trafficking of mRNA. Genes Dev. 6, 1173–1189.
- Amrani, N., Ghosh, S., Mangus, D.A., and Jacobson, A. (2008). Translation factors promote the formation of two states of the closed-loop mRNP. Nature 453, 1276–1280.
- Anderson, J.T., Wilson, S.M., Datar, K.V., and Swanson, M.S. (1993). NAB2: a yeast nuclear polyadenylated RNA-binding protein essential for cell viability. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 2730–2741.
- Araki, Y., Takahashi, S., Kobayashi, T., Kajiho, H., Hoshino, S., and Katada, T. (2001). Ski7p G protein interacts with the exosome and the Ski complex for 3'-to-5' mRNA decay in yeast. EMBO J. 20, 4684–4693.
- Arava, Y., Wang, Y., Storey, J.D., Liu, C.L., Brown, P.O., and Herschlag, D. (2003). Genome-wide analysis of mRNA translation profiles in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 3889–3894.
- Arigo, J.T., Carroll, K.L., Ames, J.M., and Corden, J.L. (2006). Regulation of yeast NRD1 expression by premature transcription termination. Mol. Cell 21, 641–651.
- Arraiano, C.M., Mauxion, F., Viegas, S.C., Matos, R.G., and Séraphin, B. (2013). Intracellular ribonucleases involved in transcript processing and decay: precision tools for RNA. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1829, 491–513.
- Badis, G., Saveanu, C., Fromont-Racine, M., and Jacquier, A. (2004). Targeted mRNA degradation by deadenylation-independent decapping. Mol. Cell 15, 5–15.
- Baer, B.W., and Kornberg, R.D. (1980). Repeating structure of cytoplasmic poly(A)-ribonucleoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 77, 1890–1892.
- Baer, B.W., and Kornberg, R.D. (1983). The protein responsible for the repeating structure of cytoplasmic poly(A)-ribonucleoprotein. J. Cell Biol. 96, 717–721.
- Bandyra, K.J., Bouvier, M., Carpousis, A.J., and Luisi, B.F. (2013). The social fabric of the RNA degradosome. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1829, 514–522.
- Bashkirov, V.I., Scherthan, H., Solinger, J.A., Buerstedde, J.M., and Heyer, W.D. (1997). A mouse cytoplasmic exoribonuclease (mXRN1p) with preference for G4 tetraplex substrates. J. Cell Biol. 136, 761–773.
- Basquin, J., Roudko, V.V., Rode, M., Basquin, C., Séraphin, B., and Conti, E. (2012). Architecture of the nuclease module of the yeast Ccr4-not complex: the Not1-Caf1-Ccr4 interaction. Mol. Cell 48, 207–218.
- Beelman, C.A., Stevens, A., Caponigro, G., LaGrandeur, T.E., Hatfield, L., Fortner, D.M., and Parker, R. (1996). An essential component of the decapping enzyme required for normal rates of mRNA turnover. Nature 382, 642–646.
- Boeck, R., Tarun, S., Jr, Rieger, M., Deardorff, J.A., Müller-Auer, S., and Sachs, A.B. (1996). The yeast Pan2 protein is required for poly(A)-binding protein-stimulated poly(A)-nuclease activity. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 432–438.
- Boeck, R., Lapeyre, B., Brown, C.E., and Sachs, A.B. (1998). Capped mRNA degradation intermediates accumulate in the yeast spb8-2 mutant. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 5062–5072.
- Borja, M.S., Piotukh, K., Freund, C., and Gross, J.D. (2011). Dcp1 links coactivators of mRNA decapping

to Dcp2 by proline recognition. RNA 17, 278-290.

- Bousquet-Antonelli, C., Presutti, C., and Tollervey, D. (2000). Identification of a regulated pathway for nuclear pre-mRNA turnover. Cell *102*, 765–775.
- Bouveret, E., Rigaut, G., Shevchenko, A., Wilm, M., and Séraphin, B. (2000). A Sm-like protein complex that participates in mRNA degradation. EMBO J. 19, 1661–1671.
- Bregman, A., Avraham-Kelbert, M., Barkai, O., Duek, L., Guterman, A., and Choder, M. (2011). Promoter Elements Regulate Cytoplasmic mRNA Decay. Cell *147*, 1473–1483.
- Brown, C.E., and Sachs, A.B. (1998). Poly(A) tail length control in Saccharomyces cerevisiae occurs by message-specific deadenylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 6548–6559.
- Brown, C.E., Tarun, S.Z., Jr, Boeck, R., and Sachs, A.B. (1996). PAN3 encodes a subunit of the Pab1pdependent poly(A) nuclease in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 5744–5753.
- Buchan, J.R., Muhlrad, D., and Parker, R. (2008). P bodies promote stress granule assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Cell Biol. 183, 441–455.
- Burger, K., Mühl, B., Kellner, M., Rohrmoser, M., Gruber-Eber, A., Windhager, L., Friedel, C.C., Dölken, L., and Eick, D. (2013). 4-thiouridine inhibits rRNA synthesis and causes a nucleolar stress response. RNA Biol. 10.
- Butler, J.S., and Mitchell, P. (2011). Rrp6, rrp47 and cofactors of the nuclear exosome. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 702, 91–104.
- Callahan, K.P., and Butler, J.S. (2010). TRAMP complex enhances RNA degradation by the nuclear exosome component Rrp6. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 3540–3547.
- Chang, J.H., Jiao, X., Chiba, K., Oh, C., Martin, C.E., Kiledjian, M., and Tong, L. (2012). Dxo1 is a new type of eukaryotic enzyme with both decapping and 5'-3' exoribonuclease activity. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 19, 1011–1017.
- Chowdhury, A., Mukhopadhyay, J., and Tharun, S. (2007). The decapping activator Lsm1p-7p-Pat1p complex has the intrinsic ability to distinguish between oligoadenylated and polyadenylated RNAs. RNA *13*, 998–1016.
- Cleary, M.D., Meiering, C.D., Jan, E., Guymon, R., and Boothroyd, J.C. (2005). Biosynthetic labeling of RNA with uracil phosphoribosyltransferase allows cell-specific microarray analysis of mRNA synthesis and decay. Nat. Biotechnol. 23, 232–237.
- Collart, M.A., and Panasenko, O.O. (2012). The Ccr4--not complex. Gene 492, 42-53.
- Coller, J., and Parker, R. (2005). General translational repression by activators of mRNA decapping. Cell *122*, 875–886.
- Coller, J.M., Tucker, M., Sheth, U., Valencia-Sanchez, M.A., and Parker, R. (2001). The DEAD box helicase, Dhh1p, functions in mRNA decapping and interacts with both the decapping and deadenylase complexes. RNA 7, 1717–1727.
- Costello, J.L., Stead, J.A., Feigenbutz, M., Jones, R.M., and Mitchell, P. (2011). The C-terminal region of the exosome-associated protein Rrp47 is specifically required for box C/D small nucleolar RNA 3'-maturation. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 4535–4543.
- Cougot, N., Babajko, S., and Séraphin, B. (2004). Cytoplasmic foci are sites of mRNA decay in human cells. J. Cell Biol. *165*, 31–40.
- Daugeron, M.C., Mauxion, F., and Séraphin, B. (2001). The yeast POP2 gene encodes a nuclease involved in mRNA deadenylation. Nucleic Acids Res. 29, 2448–2455.
- Decker, C.J., Teixeira, D., and Parker, R. (2007). Edc3p and a glutamine/asparagine-rich domain of Lsm4p function in processing body assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Cell Biol. 179, 437– 449.

- Decourty, L., Saveanu, C., Zemam, K., Hantraye, F., Frachon, E., Rousselle, J.-C., Fromont-Racine, M., and Jacquier, A. (2008). Linking functionally related genes by sensitive and quantitative characterization of genetic interaction profiles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 5821–5826.
- Deneke, C., Lipowsky, R., and Valleriani, A. (2013). Complex degradation processes lead to nonexponential decay patterns and age-dependent decay rates of messenger RNA. PloS One 8, e55442.
- Deshmukh, M.V., Jones, B.N., Quang-Dang, D.-U., Flinders, J., Floor, S.N., Kim, C., Jemielity, J., Kalek, M., Darzynkiewicz, E., and Gross, J.D. (2008). mRNA decapping is promoted by an RNA-binding channel in Dcp2. Mol. Cell 29, 324–336.
- Dichtl, B., Stevens, A., and Tollervey, D. (1997). Lithium toxicity in yeast is due to the inhibition of RNA processing enzymes. EMBO J. 16, 7184–7195.
- Van Dijk, E., Cougot, N., Meyer, S., Babajko, S., Wahle, E., and Séraphin, B. (2002). Human Dcp2: a catalytically active mRNA decapping enzyme located in specific cytoplasmic structures. EMBO J. 21, 6915–6924.
- Van Dijk, E.L., Chen, C.L., d'Aubenton-Carafa, Y., Gourvennec, S., Kwapisz, M., Roche, V., Bertrand, C., Silvain, M., Legoix-Né, P., Loeillet, S., et al. (2011). XUTs are a class of Xrn1-sensitive antisense regulatory non-coding RNA in yeast. Nature 475, 114–117.
- Dmochowska, A., Golik, P., and Stepien, P.P. (1995). The novel nuclear gene DSS-1 of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is necessary for mitochondrial biogenesis. Curr Genet 28, 108–112.
- Dölken, L., Ruzsics, Z., Rädle, B., Friedel, C.C., Zimmer, R., Mages, J., Hoffmann, R., Dickinson, P., Forster, T., Ghazal, P., et al. (2008). High-resolution gene expression profiling for simultaneous kinetic parameter analysis of RNA synthesis and decay. RNA 14, 1959–1972.
- Dong, S., Li, C., Zenklusen, D., Singer, R.H., Jacobson, A., and He, F. (2007). YRA1 autoregulation requires nuclear export and cytoplasmic Edc3p-mediated degradation of its pre-mRNA. Mol. Cell 25, 559–573.
- Dori-Bachash, M., Shalem, O., Manor, Y.S., Pilpel, Y., and Tirosh, I. (2012). Widespread promotermediated coordination of transcription and mRNA degradation. Genome Biol. *13*, R114.
- Drinnenberg, I.A., Fink, G.R., and Bartel, D.P. (2011). Compatibility with killer explains the rise of RNAi-deficient fungi. Science 333, 1592.
- Dujon, B., Sherman, D., Fischer, G., Durrens, P., Casaregola, S., Lafontaine, I., De Montigny, J., Marck, C., Neuvéglise, C., Talla, E., et al. (2004). Genome evolution in yeasts. Nature 430, 35–44.
- Dunckley, T., and Parker, R. (1999). The DCP2 protein is required for mRNA decapping in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and contains a functional MutT motif. EMBO J. *18*, 5411–5422.
- Dunckley, T., Tucker, M., and Parker, R. (2001). Two related proteins, Edc1p and Edc2p, stimulate mRNA decapping in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 157, 27–37.
- Dziembowski, A., Lorentzen, E., Conti, E., and Séraphin, B. (2007). A single subunit, Dis3, is essentially responsible for yeast exosome core activity. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 14, 15–22.
- Engel, S.R., and Cherry, J.M. (2013). The new modern era of yeast genomics: community sequencing and the resulting annotation of multiple Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains at the Saccharomyces Genome Database. Database J. Biol. Databases Curation *2013*.
- Ensinger, M.J., Martin, S.A., Paoletti, E., and Moss, B. (1975). Modification of the 5'-terminus of mRNA by soluble guanylyl and methyl transferases from vaccinia virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 72, 2525–2529.
- Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I., and Izaurralde, E. (2007a). P bodies: at the crossroads of posttranscriptional pathways. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 9–22.
- Eulalio, A., Behm-Ansmant, I., Schweizer, D., and Izaurralde, E. (2007b). P-body formation is a consequence, not the cause, of RNA-mediated gene silencing. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27, 3970–3981.

- Fleischer, T.C., Weaver, C.M., McAfee, K.J., Jennings, J.L., and Link, A.J. (2006). Systematic identification and functional screens of uncharacterized proteins associated with eukaryotic ribosomal complexes. Genes Dev. 20, 1294–1307.
- Foat, B.C., Houshmandi, S.S., Olivas, W.M., and Bussemaker, H.J. (2005). Profiling condition-specific, genome-wide regulation of mRNA stability in yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 17675– 17680.
- Fromm, S.A., Truffault, V., Kamenz, J., Braun, J.E., Hoffmann, N.A., Izaurralde, E., and Sprangers, R. (2012). The structural basis of Edc3- and Scd6-mediated activation of the Dcp1:Dcp2 mRNA decapping complex. EMBO J. 31, 279–290.
- Fromont-Racine, M., Rain, J.C., and Legrain, P. (1997). Toward a functional analysis of the yeast genome through exhaustive two-hybrid screens. Nat. Genet. 16, 277–282.
- Fromont-Racine, M., Mayes, A.E., Brunet-Simon, A., Rain, J.C., Colley, A., Dix, I., Decourty, L., Joly, N., Ricard, F., Beggs, J.D., et al. (2000). Genome-wide protein interaction screens reveal functional networks involving Sm-like proteins. Yeast. 17, 95–110.
- Furuichi, Y., LaFiandra, A., and Shatkin, A.J. (1977). 5'-Terminal structure and mRNA stability. Nature 266, 235–239.
- Garland, W., Feigenbutz, M., Turner, M., and Mitchell, P. (2013). Rrp47 functions in RNA surveillance and stable RNA processing when divorced from the exoribonuclease and exosome-binding domains of Rrp6. RNA. 19(12):1659-68
- Gerber, A.P., Herschlag, D., and Brown, P.O. (2004). Extensive association of functionally and cytotopically related mRNAs with Puf family RNA-binding proteins in yeast. PLoS Biol. 2, e79.
- Goebels, C., Thonn, A., Gonzalez-Hilarion, S., Rolland, O., Moyrand, F., Beilharz, T.H., and Janbon, G. (2013). Introns Regulate Gene Expression in Cryptococcus neoformans in a Pab2p Dependent Pathway. PLoS Genet. 9, e1003686.
- Goldstrohm, A.C., Hook, B.A., Seay, D.J., and Wickens, M. (2006). PUF proteins bind Pop2p to regulate messenger RNAs. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 13, 533–539.
- Goldstrohm, A.C., Seay, D.J., Hook, B.A., and Wickens, M. (2007). PUF protein-mediated deadenylation is catalyzed by Ccr4p. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 109–114.
- Granneman, S., Kudla, G., Petfalski, E., and Tollervey, D. (2009). Identification of protein binding sites on U3 snoRNA and pre-rRNA by UV cross-linking and high-throughput analysis of cDNAs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 9613–9618.
- Green, D.M., Marfatia, K.A., Crafton, E.B., Zhang, X., Cheng, X., and Corbett, A.H. (2002). Nab2p is required for poly(A) RNA export in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and is regulated by arginine methylation via Hmt1p. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 7752–7760.
- Grigull, J., Mnaimneh, S., Pootoolal, J., Robinson, M.D., and Hughes, T.R. (2004). Genome-wide analysis of mRNA stability using transcription inhibitors and microarrays reveals posttranscriptional control of ribosome biogenesis factors. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 5534–5547.
- Gu, M., Rajashankar, K.R., and Lima, C.D. (2010). Structure of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Cet1-Ceg1 mRNA capping apparatus. Struct. Lond. Engl. 1993 18, 216–227.
- Gudipati, R.K., Neil, H., Feuerbach, F., Malabat, C., and Jacquier, A. (2012). The yeast RPL9B gene is regulated by modulation between two modes of transcription termination. EMBO J. 31, 2427– 2437.
- Halbach, F., Reichelt, P., Rode, M., and Conti, E. (2013). The yeast ski complex: crystal structure and RNA channeling to the exosome complex. Cell *154*, 814–826.
- Halbeisen, R.E., Scherrer, T., and Gerber, A.P. (2009). Affinity purification of ribosomes to access the translatome. Methods San Diego Calif *48*, 306–310.
- Harigaya, Y., Jones, B.N., Muhlrad, D., Gross, J.D., and Parker, R. (2010). Identification and analysis of

the interaction between Edc3 and Dcp2 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Cell. Biol. 30, 1446–1456.

- He, W., and Parker, R. (2001). The yeast cytoplasmic LsmI/Pat1p complex protects mRNA 3' termini from partial degradation. Genetics 158, 1445–1455.
- Hector, R.E., Nykamp, K.R., Dheur, S., Anderson, J.T., Non, P.J., Urbinati, C.R., Wilson, S.M., Minvielle-Sebastia, L., and Swanson, M.S. (2002). Dual requirement for yeast hnRNP Nab2p in mRNA poly(A) tail length control and nuclear export. EMBO J. 21, 1800–1810.
- Hirayama, T., Matsuura, T., Ushiyama, S., Narusaka, M., Kurihara, Y., Yasuda, M., Ohtani, M., Seki, M., Demura, T., Nakashita, H., et al. (2013). A poly(A)-specific ribonuclease directly regulates the poly(A) status of mitochondrial mRNA in Arabidopsis. Nat. Commun. 4, 2247.
- Hoffmann, B., Nickel, J., Speer, F., and Schafer, B. (2008). The 3' ends of mature transcripts are generated by a processosome complex in fission yeast mitochondria. J. Mol. Biol. 377, 1024– 1037.
- Hofmann, T.J., Min, J., and Zassenhaus, H.P. (1993). Formation of the 3' end of yeast mitochondrial mRNAs occurs by site-specific cleavage two bases downstream of a conserved dodecamer sequence. Yeast. 9, 1319–1330.
- Hogan, D.J., Riordan, D.P., Gerber, A.P., Herschlag, D., and Brown, P.O. (2008). Diverse RNA-binding proteins interact with functionally related sets of RNAs, suggesting an extensive regulatory system. PLoS Biol. 6, e255.
- Holub, P., Lalakova, J., Cerna, H., Pasulka, J., Sarazova, M., Hrazdilova, K., Arce, M.S., Hobor, F., Stefl, R., and Vanacova, S. (2012). Air2p is critical for the assembly and RNA-binding of the TRAMP complex and the KOW domain of Mtr4p is crucial for exosome activation. Nucleic Acids Res. 40, 5679–5693.
- Houseley, J., LaCava, J., and Tollervey, D. (2006). RNA-quality control by the exosome. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7, 529–539.
- Hsu, C.L., and Stevens, A. (1993). Yeast cells lacking 5'-->3' exoribonuclease 1 contain mRNA species that are poly(A) deficient and partially lack the 5' cap structure. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 4826–4835.
- Hu, W., Sweet, T.J., Chamnongpol, S., Baker, K.E., and Coller, J. (2009). Co-translational mRNA decay in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nature 461, 225–229.
- Iglesias, N., Tutucci, E., Gwizdek, C., Vinciguerra, P., Von Dach, E., Corbett, A.H., Dargemont, C., and Stutz, F. (2010). Ubiquitin-mediated mRNP dynamics and surveillance prior to budding yeast mRNA export. Genes Dev. 24, 1927–1938.
- Ingelfinger, D., Arndt-Jovin, D.J., Lührmann, R., and Achsel, T. (2002). The human LSm1-7 proteins colocalize with the mRNA-degrading enzymes Dcp1/2 and Xrnl in distinct cytoplasmic foci. RNA N. Y. N 8, 1489–1501.
- Ingolia, N.T., Ghaemmaghami, S., Newman, J.R.S., and Weissman, J.S. (2009). Genome-wide analysis in vivo of translation with nucleotide resolution using ribosome profiling. Science *324*, 218–223.
- Jackson, J.S., Jr, Houshmandi, S.S., Lopez Leban, F., and Olivas, W.M. (2004). Recruitment of the Puf3 protein to its mRNA target for regulation of mRNA decay in yeast. RNA *10*, 1625–1636.
- Jain, S., and Parker, R. (2013). The discovery and analysis of P Bodies. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 768, 23-43.
- Jensen, T.H., Jacquier, A., and Libri, D. (2013). Dealing with pervasive transcription. Mol. Cell 52, 473– 484.
- Jiao, X., Xiang, S., Oh, C., Martin, C.E., Tong, L., and Kiledjian, M. (2010). Identification of a qualitycontrol mechanism for mRNA 5'-end capping. Nature 467, 608–611.
- Jimenez, A., Tipper, D.J., and Davies, J. (1973). Mode of Action of Thiolutin, an Inhibitor of Macromolecular Synthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 3, 729– 738.

- Johnson, A.W. (1997). Rat1p and Xrn1p are functionally interchangeable exoribonucleases that are restricted to and required in the nucleus and cytoplasm, respectively. Mol. Cell. Biol. 17, 6122– 6130.
- Keene, J.D. (2007). RNA regulons: coordination of post-transcriptional events. Nat. Rev. Genet. 8, 533– 543.
- Keene, J.D., and Tenenbaum, S.A. (2002). Eukaryotic mRNPs may represent posttranscriptional operons. Mol. Cell 9, 1161–1167.
- Kim Guisbert, K., Duncan, K., Li, H., and Guthrie, C. (2005). Functional specificity of shuttling hnRNPs revealed by genome-wide analysis of their RNA binding profiles. RNA 11, 383–393.
- Klass, D.M., Scheibe, M., Butter, F., Hogan, G.J., Mann, M., and Brown, P.O. (2013). Quantitative proteomic analysis reveals concurrent RNA-protein interactions and identifies new RNA-binding proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genome Res. 23, 1028–1038.
- Kshirsagar, M., and Parker, R. (2004). Identification of Edc3p as an enhancer of mRNA decapping in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics *166*, 729–739.
- LaCava, J., Houseley, J., Saveanu, C., Petfalski, E., Thompson, E., Jacquier, A., and Tollervey, D. (2005). RNA degradation by the exosome is promoted by a nuclear polyadenylation complex. Cell *121*, 713–724.
- Larimer, F.W., and Stevens, A. (1990). Disruption of the gene XRN1, coding for a 5'----3' exoribonuclease, restricts yeast cell growth. Gene 95, 85–90.
- De Lay, N., Schu, D.J., and Gottesman, S. (2013). Bacterial small RNA-based negative regulation: Hfq and its accomplices. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 7996–8003.
- Lebreton, A., Tomecki, R., Dziembowski, A., and Séraphin, B. (2008). Endonucleolytic RNA cleavage by a eukaryotic exosome. Nature 456, 993–996.
- Legrain, P., and Rosbash, M. (1989). Some cis- and trans-acting mutants for splicing target pre-mRNA to the cytoplasm. Cell *57*, 573–583.
- Lemieux, C., and Bachand, F. (2009). Cotranscriptional recruitment of the nuclear poly(A)-binding protein Pab2 to nascent transcripts and association with translating mRNPs. Nucleic Acids Res. 37, 3418–3430.
- Lidschreiber, M., Leike, K., and Cramer, P. (2013). Cap completion and C-terminal repeat domain kinase recruitment underlie the initiation-elongation transition of RNA polymerase II. Mol. Cell. Biol. 33, 3805–3816.
- Liu, H., and Kiledjian, M. (2005). Scavenger Decapping Activity Facilitates 5' to 3' mRNA Decay. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25, 9764–9772.
- Liu, H., Rodgers, N.D., Jiao, X., and Kiledjian, M. (2002). The scavenger mRNA decapping enzyme DcpS is a member of the HIT family of pyrophosphatases. EMBO J. 21, 4699–4708.
- Liu, Q., Greimann, J.C., and Lima, C.D. (2006). Reconstitution, activities, and structure of the eukaryotic RNA exosome. Cell 127, 1223–1237.
- Lo, T.L., Qu, Y., Uwamahoro, N., Quenault, T., Beilharz, T.H., and Traven, A. (2012). The mRNA decay pathway regulates the expression of the Flo11 adhesin and biofilm formation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 191, 1387–1391.
- Lowell, J.E., Rudner, D.Z., and Sachs, A.B. (1992). 3'-UTR-dependent deadenylation by the yeast poly(A) nuclease. Genes Dev. *6*, 2088–2099.
- Luo, G., Costanzo, M., Boone, C., and Dickson, R.C. (2011). Nutrients and the Pkh1/2 and Pkc1 protein kinases control mRNA decay and P-body assembly in yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 8759–8770.
- Luo, W., Johnson, A.W., and Bentley, D.L. (2006). The role of Rat1 in coupling mRNA 3?-end processing to transcription termination: implications for a unified allosteric-torpedo model. Genes Dev. 20,

954-965.

- Makino, D.L., Baumgärtner, M., and Conti, E. (2013a). Crystal structure of an RNA-bound 11-subunit eukaryotic exosome complex. Nature 495, 70–75.
- Makino, D.L., Halbach, F., and Conti, E. (2013b). The RNA exosome and proteasome: common principles of degradation control. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14, 654–660.
- Malecki, M., Viegas, S.C., Carneiro, T., Golik, P., Dressaire, C., Ferreira, M.G., and Arraiano, C.M. (2013). The exoribonuclease Dis3L2 defines a novel eukaryotic RNA degradation pathway. EMBO J. 32, 1842–1854.
- Malys, N., Carroll, K., Miyan, J., Tollervey, D., and McCarthy, J.E.G. (2004). The "scavenger" m7GpppX pyrophosphatase activity of Dcs1 modulates nutrient-induced responses in yeast. Nucleic Acids Res. 32, 3590–3600.
- Mangus, D.A., Amrani, N., and Jacobson, A. (1998). Pbp1p, a factor interacting with Saccharomyces cerevisiae poly(A)-binding protein, regulates polyadenylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 7383–7396.
- Mangus, D.A., Smith, M.M., McSweeney, J.M., and Jacobson, A. (2004a). Identification of factors regulating poly(A) tail synthesis and maturation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 4196–4206.
- Mangus, D.A., Evans, M.C., Agrin, N.S., Smith, M., Gongidi, P., and Jacobson, A. (2004b). Positive and negative regulation of poly(A) nuclease. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 5521–5533.
- Marshall, A.N., Montealegre, M.C., Jiménez-López, C., Lorenz, M.C., and van Hoof, A. (2013). Alternative splicing and subfunctionalization generates functional diversity in fungal proteomes. PLoS Genet. 9, e1003376.
- Matunis, M.J., Matunis, E.L., and Dreyfuss, G. (1993). PUB1: a major yeast poly(A)+ RNA-binding protein. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13, 6114–6123.
- Menschaert, G., Van Criekinge, W., Notelaers, T., Koch, A., Crappé, J., Gevaert, K., and Van Damme, P. (2013). Deep proteome coverage based on ribosome profiling aids mass spectrometry-based protein and peptide discovery and provides evidence of alternative translation products and nearcognate translation initiation events. Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP 12, 1780–1790.
- Miller, C., Schwalb, B., Maier, K., Schulz, D., Dümcke, S., Zacher, B., Mayer, A., Sydow, J., Marcinowski, L., Dölken, L., et al. (2011). Dynamic transcriptome analysis measures rates of mRNA synthesis and decay in yeast. Mol. Syst. Biol. 7, 458.
- Milligan, L., Decourty, L., Saveanu, C., Rappsilber, J., Ceulemans, H., Jacquier, A., and Tollervey, D. (2008). A yeast exosome cofactor, Mpp6, functions in RNA surveillance and in the degradation of noncoding RNA transcripts. Mol. Cell. Biol. 28, 5446–5457.
- Min, J., Heuertz, R.M., and Zassenhaus, H.P. (1993). Isolation and characterization of an NTP-dependent 3'-exoribonuclease from mitochondria of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 268, 7350– 7357.
- Mitchell, P., Petfalski, E., Shevchenko, A., Mann, M., and Tollervey, D. (1997). The exosome: a conserved eukaryotic RNA processing complex containing multiple 3'-->5' exoribonucleases. Cell 91, 457–466.
- Mitchell, S.F., Jain, S., She, M., and Parker, R. (2013). Global analysis of yeast mRNPs. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 20, 127–133.
- Moteki, S., and Price, D. (2002). Functional coupling of capping and transcription of mRNA. Mol. Cell *10*, 599–609.
- Muhlrad, D., Decker, C.J., and Parker, R. (1994). Deadenylation of the unstable mRNA encoded by the yeast MFA2 gene leads to decapping followed by 5'-->3' digestion of the transcript. Genes Dev. 8, 855–866.
- Munchel, S.E., Shultzaberger, R.K., Takizawa, N., and Weis, K. (2011). Dynamic profiling of mRNA turnover reveals gene-specific and system-wide regulation of mRNA decay. Mol. Biol. Cell 22,

2787-2795.

- Narayanaswamy, R., Levy, M., Tsechansky, M., Stovall, G.M., O'Connell, J.D., Mirrielees, J., Ellington, A.D., and Marcotte, E.M. (2009). Widespread reorganization of metabolic enzymes into reversible assemblies upon nutrient starvation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 10147–10152.
- Nissan, T., Rajyaguru, P., She, M., Song, H., and Parker, R. (2010). Decapping activators in Saccharomyces cerevisiae act by multiple mechanisms. Mol. Cell *39*, 773–783.
- Nonet, M., Scafe, C., Sexton, J., and Young, R. (1987). Eucaryotic RNA polymerase conditional mutant that rapidly ceases mRNA synthesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 7, 1602–1611.
- Noree, C., Sato, B.K., Broyer, R.M., and Wilhelm, J.E. (2010). Identification of novel filament-forming proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Drosophila melanogaster. J. Cell Biol. 190, 541–551.
- O'Connell, J.D., Zhao, A., Ellington, A.D., and Marcotte, E.M. (2012). Dynamic reorganization of metabolic enzymes into intracellular bodies. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 28, 89–111.
- Olivas, W., and Parker, R. (2000). The Puf3 protein is a transcript-specific regulator of mRNA degradation in yeast. EMBO J. *19*, 6602–6611.
- Osinga, K.A., De Vries, E., Van der Horst, G., and Tabak, H.F. (1984). Processing of yeast mitochondrial messenger RNAs at a conserved dodecamer sequence. EMBO J. *3*, 829–834.
- Parker, R. (2012). RNA degradation in Saccharomyces cerevisae. Genetics 191, 671-702.
- Pearson, E.L., and Moore, C.L. (2013). Dismantling promoter-driven RNA polymerase II transcription complexes in vitro by the termination factor Rat1. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 19750–19759.
- Pelechano, V., and Pérez-Ortín, J.E. (2008). The transcriptional inhibitor thiolutin blocks mRNA degradation in yeast. Yeast 25, 85–92.
- Pelechano, V., Chávez, S., and Pérez-Ortín, J.E. (2010). A complete set of nascent transcription rates for yeast genes. PloS One 5, e15442.
- Perez-Ortin, J.E., de Miguel-Jimenez, L., and Chavez, S. (2012). Genome-wide studies of mRNA synthesis and degradation in eukaryotes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta-Gene Regul. Mech. 1819, 604– 615.
- Porrua, O., Hobor, F., Boulay, J., Kubicek, K., D'Aubenton-Carafa, Y., Gudipati, R.K., Stefl, R., and Libri, D. (2012). In vivo SELEX reveals novel sequence and structural determinants of Nrd1-Nab3-Sen1-dependent transcription termination. EMBO J. 31, 3935–3948.
- Qiu, C., Kershner, A., Wang, Y., Holley, C.P., Wilinski, D., Keles, S., Kimble, J., Wickens, M., and Hall, T.M.T. (2012). Divergence of Pumilio/fem-3 mRNA binding factor (PUF) protein specificity through variations in an RNA-binding pocket. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 6949–6957.
- Quenault, T., Lithgow, T., and Traven, A. (2011). PUF proteins: repression, activation and mRNA localization. Trends Cell Biol. 21, 104–112.
- Ramachandran, V., Shah, K.H., and Herman, P.K. (2011). The cAMP-dependent protein kinase signaling pathway is a key regulator of P body foci formation. Mol. Cell *43*, 973–981.
- Read, R.L., Martinho, R.G., Wang, S.-W., Carr, A.M., and Norbury, C.J. (2002). Cytoplasmic poly(A) polymerases mediate cellular responses to S phase arrest. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 12079–12084.
- Rissland, O.S., and Norbury, C.J. (2009). Decapping is preceded by 3' uridylation in a novel pathway of bulk mRNA turnover. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *16*, 616–623.
- Rogowska, A.T., Puchta, O., Czarnecka, A.M., Kaniak, A., Stepien, P.P., and Golik, P. (2006). Balance between transcription and RNA degradation is vital for Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondria: reduced transcription rescues the phenotype of deficient RNA degradation. Mol. Biol. Cell 17, 1184–1193.

- Roth, K.M., Wolf, M.K., Rossi, M., and Butler, J.S. (2005). The nuclear exosome contributes to autogenous control of NAB2 mRNA levels. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25, 1577–1585.
- Roth, K.M., Byam, J., Fang, F., and Butler, J.S. (2009). Regulation of NAB2 mRNA 3'-end formation requires the core exosome and the Trf4p component of the TRAMP complex. RNA 15, 1045– 1058.
- Sachs, A.B., and Davis, R.W. (1989). The poly(A) binding protein is required for poly(A) shortening and 60S ribosomal subunit-dependent translation initiation. Cell 58, 857–867.
- Sachs, A.B., and Deardorff, J.A. (1992). Translation initiation requires the PAB-dependent poly(A) ribonuclease in yeast. Cell *70*, 961–973.
- Sachs, A.B., Bond, M.W., and Kornberg, R.D. (1986). A single gene from yeast for both nuclear and cytoplasmic polyadenylate-binding proteins: domain structure and expression. Cell 45, 827–835.
- Sachs, A.B., Davis, R.W., and Kornberg, R.D. (1987). A single domain of yeast poly(A)-binding protein is necessary and sufficient for RNA binding and cell viability. Mol. Cell. Biol. 7, 3268–3276.
- Saint-Georges, Y., Garcia, M., Delaveau, T., Jourdren, L., Le Crom, S., Lemoine, S., Tanty, V., Devaux, F., and Jacq, C. (2008). Yeast Mitochondrial Biogenesis: A Role for the PUF RNA-Binding Protein Puf3p in mRNA Localization. PLoS ONE 3, e2293.
- Salgado-Garrido, J., Bragado-Nilsson, E., Kandels-Lewis, S., and Séraphin, B. (1999). Sm and Sm-like proteins assemble in two related complexes of deep evolutionary origin. EMBO J. 18, 3451–3462.
- San Paolo, S., Vanacova, S., Schenk, L., Scherrer, T., Blank, D., Keller, W., and Gerber, A.P. (2009). Distinct roles of non-canonical poly(A) polymerases in RNA metabolism. PLoS Genet. 5, e1000555.
- Santiveri, C.M., Mirassou, Y., Rico-Lastres, P., Martínez-Lumbreras, S., and Pérez-Cañadillas, J.M. (2011). Pub1p C-terminal RRM domain interacts with Tif4631p through a conserved region neighbouring the Pab1p binding site. PloS One 6, e24481.
- Sayani, S., and Chanfreau, G.F. (2012). Sequential RNA degradation pathways provide a fail-safe mechanism to limit the accumulation of unspliced transcripts in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. RNA 18, 1563–1572.
- Schaeffer, D., Tsanova, B., Barbas, A., Reis, F.P., Dastidar, E.G., Sanchez-Rotunno, M., Arraiano, C.M., and van Hoof, A. (2009). The exosome contains domains with specific endoribonuclease, exoribonuclease and cytoplasmic mRNA decay activities. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16, 56–62.
- Schmidt, K., Xu, Z., Mathews, D.H., and Butler, J.S. (2012). Air proteins control differential TRAMP substrate specificity for nuclear RNA surveillance. RNA 18, 1934–1945.
- Schneider, C., Anderson, J.T., and Tollervey, D. (2007). The exosome subunit Rrp44 plays a direct role in RNA substrate recognition. Mol. Cell 27, 324–331.
- Schneider, C., Leung, E., Brown, J., and Tollervey, D. (2009). The N-terminal PIN domain of the exosome subunit Rrp44 harbors endonuclease activity and tethers Rrp44 to the yeast core exosome. Nucleic Acids Res. 37, 1127–1140.
- Schulz, D., Schwalb, B., Kiesel, A., Baejen, C., Torkler, P., Gagneur, J., Soeding, J., and Cramer, P. (2013). Transcriptome surveillance by selective termination of noncoding RNA synthesis. Cell 155, 1075–1087.
- Schwartz, D., Decker, C.J., and Parker, R. (2003). The enhancer of decapping proteins, Edc1p and Edc2p, bind RNA and stimulate the activity of the decapping enzyme. RNA 9, 239–251.
- Shah, K.H., Zhang, B., Ramachandran, V., and Herman, P.K. (2013). Processing body and stress granule assembly occur by independent and differentially regulated pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 193, 109–123.
- Shalem, O., Dahan, O., Levo, M., Martinez, M.R., Furman, I., Segal, E., and Pilpel, Y. (2008). Transient transcriptional responses to stress are generated by opposing effects of mRNA production and

degradation. Mol. Syst. Biol. 4, 223.

- Sharif, H., and Conti, E. (2013). Architecture of the Lsm1-7-Pat1 complex: a conserved assembly in eukaryotic mRNA turnover. Cell Rep. 5, 283–291.
- Sharif, H., Ozgur, S., Sharma, K., Basquin, C., Urlaub, H., and Conti, E. (2013). Structural analysis of the yeast Dhh1-Pat1 complex reveals how Dhh1 engages Pat1, Edc3 and RNA in mutually exclusive interactions. Nucleic Acids Res. 41, 8377–8390.
- Shatkin, A.J., and Manley, J.L. (2000). The ends of the affair: capping and polyadenylation. Nat. Struct. Biol. 7, 838–842.
- Sheiness, D., Puckett, L., and Darnell, J.E. (1975). Possible relationship of poly(A) shortening to mRNA turnover. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 72, 1077–1081.
- Sheth, U., and Parker, R. (2003). Decapping and decay of messenger RNA occur in cytoplasmic processing bodies. Science 300, 805–808.
- Sinturel, F., Bréchemier-Baey, D., Kiledjian, M., Condon, C., and Bénard, L. (2012). Activation of 5'-3' exoribonuclease Xrn1 by cofactor Dcs1 is essential for mitochondrial function in yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 8264–8269.
- Sripati, C.E., Groner, Y., and Warner, J.R. (1976). Methylated, blocked 5' termini of yeast mRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 251, 2898–2904.
- Stead, J.A., Costello, J.L., Livingstone, M.J., and Mitchell, P. (2007). The PMC2NT domain of the catalytic exosome subunit Rrp6p provides the interface for binding with its cofactor Rrp47p, a nucleic acid-binding protein. Nucleic Acids Res. 35, 5556–5567.
- Steiger, M., Carr-Schmid, A., Schwartz, D.C., Kiledjian, M., and Parker, R. (2003). Analysis of recombinant yeast decapping enzyme. RNA 9, 231–238.
- Stepien, P.P., Margossian, S.P., Landsman, D., and Butow, R.A. (1992). The yeast nuclear gene suv3 affecting mitochondrial post-transcriptional processes encodes a putative ATP-dependent RNA helicase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U A 89, 6813–6817.
- Stevens, A. (1978). An exoribonuclease from Saccharomyces cerevisiae: effect of modifications of 5' end groups on the hydrolysis of substrates to 5' mononucleotides. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 81, 656–661.
- Stevens, A. (1980). An mRNA decapping enzyme from ribosomes of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 96, 1150–1155.
- Stevens, A. (1988). mRNA-decapping enzyme from Saccharomyces cerevisiae: purification and unique specificity for long RNA chains. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8, 2005–2010.
- Sun, M., Schwalb, B., Schulz, D., Pirkl, N., Etzold, S., Lariviere, L., Maier, K.C., Seizl, M., Tresch, A., and Cramer, P. (2012). Comparative dynamic transcriptome analysis (cDTA) reveals mutual feedback between mRNA synthesis and degradation. Genome Res. 22, 1350–1359.
- Sun, M., Schwalb, B., Pirkl, N., Maier, K.C., Schenk, A., Failmezger, H., Tresch, A., and Cramer, P. (2013). Global Analysis of Eukaryotic mRNA Degradation Reveals Xrn1-Dependent Buffering of Transcript Levels. Mol. Cell 52, 52–62.
- Sweet, T., Kovalak, C., and Coller, J. (2012). The DEAD-box protein Dhh1 promotes decapping by slowing ribosome movement. PLoS Biol. 10, e1001342.
- Sweet, T.J., Boyer, B., Hu, W., Baker, K.E., and Coller, J. (2007). Microtubule disruption stimulates Pbody formation. RNA 13, 493–502.
- Swisher, K.D., and Parker, R. (2010). Localization to, and effects of Pbp1, Pbp4, Lsm12, Dhh1, and Pab1 on stress granules in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PloS One 5, e10006.
- Synowsky, S.A., and Heck, A.J.R. (2008). The yeast Ski complex is a hetero-tetramer. Protein Sci. 17, 119–125.

- Synowsky, S.A., van Wijk, M., Raijmakers, R., and Heck, A.J.R. (2009). Comparative multiplexed mass spectrometric analyses of endogenously expressed yeast nuclear and cytoplasmic exosomes. J. Mol. Biol. 385, 1300–1313.
- Tenenbaum, S.A., Carson, C.C., Lager, P.J., and Keene, J.D. (2000). Identifying mRNA subsets in messenger ribonucleoprotein complexes by using cDNA arrays. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 14085–14090.
- Tharun, S., and Parker, R. (2001). Targeting an mRNA for decapping: displacement of translation factors and association of the Lsm1p-7p complex on deadenylated yeast mRNAs. Mol. Cell *8*, 1075– 1083.
- Tharun, S., He, W., Mayes, A.E., Lennertz, P., Beggs, J.D., and Parker, R. (2000). Yeast Sm-like proteins function in mRNA decapping and decay. Nature 404, 515–518.
- Toh-E, A., Guerry, P., and Wickner, R.B. (1978). Chromosomal superkiller mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Bacteriol. 136, 1002–1007.
- Trapman, J., Retèl, J., and Planta, R.J. (1975). Ribosomal precursor particles from yeast. Exp. Cell Res. 90, 95–104.
- Trcek, T., Larson, D.R., Moldón, A., Query, C.C., and Singer, R.H. (2011). Single-molecule mRNA decay measurements reveal promoter- regulated mRNA stability in yeast. Cell *147*, 1484–1497.
- Tuck, A.C., and Tollervey, D. (2013). A Transcriptome-wide Atlas of RNP Composition Reveals Diverse Classes of mRNAs and lncRNAs. Cell 154, 996–1009.
- Tucker, M., Staples, R.R., Valencia-Sanchez, M.A., Muhlrad, D., and Parker, R. (2002). Ccr4p is the catalytic subunit of a Ccr4p/Pop2p/Notp mRNA deadenylase complex in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J. 21, 1427–1436.
- Turk, E.M., Das, V., Seibert, R.D., and Andrulis, E.D. (2013). The mitochondrial RNA landscape of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PloS One 8, e78105.
- Udem, S.A., Kaufman, K., and Warner, J.R. (1971). Small ribosomal ribonucleic acid species of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Bacteriol. 105, 101–106.
- Ule, J., Jensen, K.B., Ruggiu, M., Mele, A., Ule, A., and Darnell, R.B. (2003). CLIP identifies Novaregulated RNA networks in the brain. Science 302, 1212–1215.
- Vanácová, S., Wolf, J., Martin, G., Blank, D., Dettwiler, S., Friedlein, A., Langen, H., Keith, G., and Keller, W. (2005). A new yeast poly(A) polymerase complex involved in RNA quality control. PLoS Biol. 3, e189.
- Wang, Z., and Kiledjian, M. (2001). Functional link between the mammalian exosome and mRNA decapping. Cell 107, 751–762.
- Wang, L., Lewis, M.S., and Johnson, A.W. (2005). Domain interactions within the Ski2/3/8 complex and between the Ski complex and Ski7p. RNA 11, 1291–1302.
- Wang, S.W., Toda, T., MacCallum, R., Harris, A.L., and Norbury, C. (2000). Cid1, a fission yeast protein required for S-M checkpoint control when DNA polymerase delta or epsilon is inactivated. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20, 3234–3244.
- Wasmuth, E.V., and Lima, C.D. (2012). Exo- and endoribonucleolytic activities of yeast cytoplasmic and nuclear RNA exosomes are dependent on the noncatalytic core and central channel. Mol. Cell 48, 133–144.
- Wegierski, T., Dmochowska, A., Jabłonowska, A., Dziembowski, A., Bartnik, E., and Stepień, P.P. (1998). Yeast nuclear PET127 gene can suppress deletions of the SUV3 or DSS1 genes: an indication of a functional interaction between 3' and 5' ends of mitochondrial mRNAs. Acta Biochim. Pol. 45, 935–940.
- Wery, M., Ruidant, S., Schillewaert, S., Lepore, N., and Lafontaine, D.L.J. (2009). The nuclear poly(A) polymerase and Exosome cofactor Trf5 is recruited cotranscriptionally to nucleolar surveillance.

RNA 15, 406-419.

- Wickens, M., Bernstein, D.S., Kimble, J., and Parker, R. (2002). A PUF family portrait: 3'UTR regulation as a way of life. Trends Genet. TIG 18, 150–157.
- Widner, W.R., and Wickner, R.B. (1993). Evidence that the SKI antiviral system of Saccharomyces cerevisiae acts by blocking expression of viral mRNA. Mol. Cell. Biol. *13*, 4331–4341.
- Wiesenberger, G., and Fox, T.D. (1997). Pet127p, a membrane-associated protein involved in stability and processing of Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondrial RNAs. Mol. Cell. Biol. *17*, 2816–2824.
- Wlotzka, W., Kudla, G., Granneman, S., and Tollervey, D. (2011). The nuclear RNA polymerase II surveillance system targets polymerase III transcripts. EMBO J. 30, 1790–1803.
- Wu, D., Muhlrad, D., Bowler, M.W., Liu, Z., Parker, R., and Song, H. (2013). Lsm2 and Lsm3 bridge the interaction of the Lsm1-7 complex with Pat1 for decapping activation. Cell Res.
- Wyers, F., Rougemaille, M., Badis, G., Rousselle, J.-C., Dufour, M.-E., Boulay, J., Régnault, B., Devaux, F., Namane, A., Séraphin, B., et al. (2005). Cryptic pol II transcripts are degraded by a nuclear quality control pathway involving a new poly(A) polymerase. Cell 121, 725–737.
- Xiang, S., Cooper-Morgan, A., Jiao, X., Kiledjian, M., Manley, J.L., and Tong, L. (2009). Structure and function of the 5'-->3' exoribonuclease Rat1 and its activating partner Rai1. Nature 458, 784–788.
- Xue, Y., Bai, X., Lee, I., Kallstrom, G., Ho, J., Brown, J., Stevens, A., and Johnson, A.W. (2000). Saccharomyces cerevisiae RAI1 (YGL246c) is homologous to human DOM3Z and encodes a protein that binds the nuclear exoribonuclease Rat1p. Mol. Cell. Biol. 20, 4006–4015.
- Yamasaki, S., and Anderson, P. (2008). Reprogramming mRNA translation during stress. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 20, 222–226.
- Zaman, S., Lippman, S.I., Schneper, L., Slonim, N., and Broach, J.R. (2009). Glucose regulates transcription in yeast through a network of signaling pathways. Mol. Syst. Biol. 5. an245.

# **(a)**

1. pulse + chase





4-thio Uracil

2. purification of «new» RNA 3. sequencing or microarray

rpb1-1 (36-39°C)







